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17 June 2015 

RNTS Media reports strong growth in 2014 
 

RNTS  Media  N.V.  (“RNTS  Media”, the  “Group” or  the  “Company”)  announces  its  financial  results  for  
the 12 months ended 31 December 2014. 

 
Highlights 

x Year  of  transformation  with  acquisition  of  Fyber  for  €150m  in  October,  RNTS Media now focused 
on mobile advertising 

x Pro-forma revenues increased 55% to €67m  driven   by   strong  market   growth   and   new   product  
introductions 

x Strong growth in Mediation Platform, Fyber now serves more than 320m monthly users   
x Pro-forma gross margin improved to 40.2% from 39.5% due to temporary margin increases at Fyber 

and product mix effects 
x Adjusted pro-forma   EBITDA   of   €-0.5m   vs.   €0.3m in 2013, reflecting accelerated investment in 

technology, products and organisation 
x Secured  €35m  bridge  loan  to  finance  the  ongoing  development  of  the  Group,  planning to raise a 

convertible bond to fund further acquisitions 
x Objective for 2015 to grow the business organically and through further acquisitions to revenue run-

rate of about €150m by year-end  
 

Summary of 2014 results 

 12 months ended 31 December  

Pro-forma figures, unless otherwise 
stated1 

2014 
€m 

2013 
€m 

Change 
% 

Revenue 67.0 43.3 55% 

Gross margin 40.2% 39.5% 2% 

Adjusted EBITDA2 -0.5 0.3 n/m 

Adjusted loss after tax2 -3.7 -1.2 -203% 

Adjusted basic loss per share2 -4c -1c -300% 

Operating cash flow -8.7 -3.7 -136% 

Net cash 9.3  -2.6 n/m 

1 Pro-forma results show the financials of RNTS Media as if the Fyber and BSG acquisitions had happened on 1 January 2013.  
2 Results adjusted to exclude separately disclosed items as per explanations in the Notes.  
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Andreas Bodczek, CEO of RNTS Media, said: “RNTS Media’s business has been transformed over 
the past months with the acquisitions of Fyber and Falk Realtime. These transactions - together with 
our proposed financing - will lay the foundations for RNTS Media to become one of the leading 
independent players in the global mobile advertising market, and to play an active role in its 
consolidation. 

The strong revenue growth in 2014 is testimony to our compelling proposition, which we will seek to 
further extend this year. 2015 will be a transitional year for the business as we invest in building out our 
technology platform and product portfolio, as well as strengthening our organisation in order to lay 
strong foundations for future growth. We have focused over the last months on growing the publisher 
and user base of our strategically important Mediation Platform and have significantly expanded its 
reach. Fyber now serves more than 320m monthly users. This has had some impact on the rollout of 
certain product on our Ad Exchange, notably rewarded video, which, coupled with general market 
trends, resulted in lower revenue growth in the first half of this year. However, we expect to see the 
benefits of these product launches in the second half of 2015, which will result in accelerated revenue 
growth.  

We plan to raise significant financing through a convertible bond in the coming weeks which will provide 
funding for further acquisitions and growth. We also intend a listing upgrade to an EU regulated market 
in the coming months to enhance liquidity and broaden the shareholder base. A clean audit opinion will 
facilitate these transactions and it is for this reason that we have delayed the publication of our results. 

For the full year, we will continue to grow strongly organically. In line with our strategy, we would expect 
acquisitions to continue to contribute significantly to our financial performance during 2015. Subject to 
successfully completing one or two further acquisitions in the second half, I see us well on track to bring 
the Company to a revenue run-rate  of  about  €150m  by  year-end.“ 

 

Presentation to analysts and investors 

A conference call with presentation and Q&A will be held on 17 June 2015 at 16.00 CET. 

To attend the call, please register at: 
https://cossprereg.btci.com/prereg/key.process?key=PRGLJUX84 

Once you have registered, you will be provided with the information you need to join the conference, 
including dial-in numbers and passcodes. 

To join the web portion of the meeting please go to: 
https://btevent.webex.com/btevent/onstage/g.php?MTID=e13180b8e6137ce3cff595e1b9af915a0 
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Enquiries 

Analysts & Investors Maroje Guertl, RNTS Media +49 30 609 855 555 
ir@rntsmedia.com 

Media Alex Simmons, Smithfield +44 207 903 0669 
asimmons@smithfieldgroup.com 

 

Notes to the Editors 

RNTS Media is a holding company focused on mobile advertising and digital content. Headquartered 
in Berlin, Germany, it owns Fyber and BIGSTAR Global. Fyber is a leading mobile advertising 
technology company headquartered in Berlin with an office in San Francisco. It helps app developers 
to monetize their content by connecting them to over 320 million monthly users. BIGSTAR Global is a 
Seoul, Korea, based developer of digital educational content for children. RNTS Media is listed on the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (Euro MTF Market).  
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BUSINESS REVIEW 

2014 has been a transformational year for RNTS Media. We have repositioned the business to harness 
the opportunity of mobile advertising and took the major step of acquiring Fyber, a leading supply-side 
platform  (SSP),  for  €150m  in  cash  and  shares.  The  acquisition  was  completed  on  21  October  2014.  
This was our second acquisition since adding BIGSTAR Global (BSG) in August 2013, a Korean 
publisher of digital edutainment content for children and distributor of devices.  

The acquisition of Fyber marked a shift in strategy for RNTS Media as it is now focused predominantly 
on the mobile advertising space. Mobile advertising is a very attractive market with estimated growth 
rates 2014-2018 of approximately 40% annually, according to eMarketer (2015), driven by the increase 
of mobile devices and the expected alignment of advertising budgets to user media consumption. It is 
also an industry that is set to experience strong consolidation, in  view  of  today’s  fragmentation  across  
a multitude of sub scale players. RNTS Media intends to be a driving force of market consolidation and 
aims to become one of the Top 3 independent SSPs, outside the large owned and operated platforms 
such as DoubleClick, LiveRail, MoPub and Flurry. 

Today, Fyber is already one of the leading independent SSPs, offering a suite of products and tools to 
developers of mobile apps to help monetize their traffic through advertising. As of April 2015 Fyber 
provides advertisers with access to 320 million monthly active users of apps linked to the Fyber platform. 
RNTS Media’s  ambition is to further develop the technology platform and product offering of Fyber by 
adding new ad formats and tools, to expand the user reach by adding publishing segments beyond the 
core gaming segment, to add geographies and new ad networks as well as to acquire other companies 
with a view of gaining access to technology and scale. 

Following the shift in strategic focus towards mobile advertising, RNTS Media decided in 2014 to close 
its Mobile and Online Games Publishing business in addition to the Global Sales activities, which were 
operated by RNTS Media Co. Ltd. in Korea and RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH in Germany. These 
businesses did not develop in line with the expectations of RNTS Media, as the games market has 
shifted rapidly towards mobile apps, and cultural differences in consumer preferences negatively 
impacted the ability to distribute Korean content in Europe successfully. Accordingly the remaining 
assets have been impaired and the results of these activities are shown under discontinued operations. 

Unaudited pro-forma financial results 2014 

The acquisition of Fyber was completed on 21 October 2014 and the business consolidated as of this 
date. The previous year was also impacted by the consolidation of BSG as of December 2013.  

As a consequence, the financial results of RNTS Media will be discussed in the paragraphs below 
largely on a pro-forma basis as if both Fyber and BSG had been acquired and fully consolidated from 
January 2013. This will provide investors with meaningful comparative financial information on the 
development of RNTS Media in its current form; unless expressly indicated otherwise by the prefix 
“reported”,  all  figures  quoted  in  the  following  paragraphs  are  pro-forma. RNTS Media has also decided 
to disclose discontinued operations as well as certain non-recurring items separately to show the 
performance of the underlying business more clearly (see the section titled Separately Disclosed Items, 
below) and as such to present adjusted profitability figures. 

Revenue 

Revenues grew 55% to €67.0m  in  2014  compared  to  €43.3m in 2013. The strong growth was driven by 
a favourable market environment as well as new product introductions. The mobile advertising market 
continued to grow strongly as a result of the increased number of mobile devices worldwide, the 
increase of average time users spent on these device as well as a shift of advertising spent to reflect 
media consumption.  
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Fyber, which on a pro-forma basis accounted for more than 95% of revenue, has grown 58% whilst 
BSG showed an 8% revenue increase. Fyber benefitted from the growth of its key product, the 
Mediation Platform; whilst not generating revenue directly yet, it has driven significant ad space 
inventory   volume   to  Fyber’s  Ad Exchange. Revenue for BSG was fuelled by the launch of the LG 
KidsPad 2 in August, a completely redesigned tablet computer with BSG content, developed in close 
cooperation with LG Electronics as part of the partnership.  

Gross Margin 

Gross margin for 2014 increased to 40.2% of revenues, compared to 39.5% of revenues in 2013. Gross 
margin reflects the share of revenue retained by RNTS Media after payouts to publishers at Fyber and 
purchases of finished goods from third parties at BSG, i.e. electronics hardware like tablets.  

The improvement in gross margin was driven by increases in both the Fyber Ad Exchange  and  Fyber’s  
direct sales as well as temporary product mix effects. We expect the margin to decrease in the medium 
term in view of increasing automation and competition. This should be offset by increasing volume of 
transactions channelled through the platform resulting in economies of scale as well as efficiency gains.  

EBITDA  

Adjusted EBITDA for 2014, excluding certain separately disclosed items as explained below, was  
€-0.5m compared  to  €0.3m in 2013 reflecting the continued investment in the Fyber business and at 
BSG.  

Adjusted personnel costs increased 50%  to  €14.8m  in  2014  related  mainly  to  hiring  in  engineering  and  
product development for the build-out of the technology platform, as well as expansion in the US sales 
team to reinforce our ability to work with leading publishers and to improve our direct sales footprint.  

RNTS Media employed a total of 272 full time employees (FTEs) as of 31 December 2014 compared 
to 131 FTEs a year earlier. Out of the 272 FTEs, there were 157 FTEs in Germany, 72 FTEs in Korea 
and 43 FTEs in the US. 

Adjusted other operating expenses were  €15.1m  in  2014,  up  98%, mainly due to increases at Fyber of 
server costs as well as higher rental and travel costs, whilst other  operating  income  was  €2.4m in 2014 
resulting  mainly  from  currency  effects  (€1.5m)  as  well  as  the release of provisions (€0.8m),  compared  
to  €0.8m  in  2013. 

Net Result  

Adjusted loss after tax was €-3.7m in 2014 compared to €-1.2m in 2013.  

Adjusted depreciation  and  amortization  increased  to  €2.9m  in  2014  from  €1.1m in the previous year, 
reflecting mainly the addition of own-developed software and content in previous years. 

Net interest expense was €-0.5m in  2014  compared  to  €-0.3m in 2013 due to higher borrowings.  

Separately Disclosed Items (SDIs) 

Separately disclosed items  were  €16.5m in 2014,  of  which  €6.5m affected EBITDA. The table below 
gives a summary of these items. 
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Separately Disclosed Items 2014 
€m 

2013 
€m 

Transaction costs related to acquisitions -3.8 -0.1 

One-off costs from restructuring, reorganisation, 
and integration 

-0.2 0.0 

Other non-recurring income and costs  0.5 -0.5 

Non-cash accounting charges for stock options, 
warrants etc. 

-3.0 0.0 

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles, 
impairment 

-2.6 -2.6 

Discontinued operations -7.4 -5.1 

Related tax effects of the items listed above 0.0 0.0 

Total  -16.5 -8.3 

€3.8m  transaction  costs  were  incurred  in  the  context  of  the  Fyber  acquisition.  €2.6m  expenses  relate  
to the amortization of acquired intangible assets like customer relationships and brands from the BSG 
and Fyber acquisitions.  

Reorganisation and integration   expenses   were   €0.2m   whilst   other   non-recurring   income   of   €0.5m  
relates to the release of provisions for tax. 

RNTS Media had issued warrants last year to two of its supervisory board members, Dirk Van Daele 
and Ryan Kavanaugh through Knight Global Services in exchange for the provision of business 
consultancy  services.  The  assessed  value  of  €3.0m  had  to  be  expensed  and  is  separated  out  as  a  non-
recurring charge.  

The  €7.4m shown in discontinued operations relate to the wind-down of the Online and Mobile Games 
Publishing and Global Sales businesses, operated through RTNS Media Deutschland GmbH and RNTS 
Media Co. Ltd. in South Korea. Mainly, these are impairment charges for goodwill and other remaining 
intangible assets, which had not been previously impaired, as well as operating losses. 

Comparable  separately  disclosed  items  would  have  been  €8.3m  in  2013,  of  which  €0.6m  had  affected  
EBITDA. This was mainly related to impairments in the Global Sales business as well as amortisation 
of acquisition intangibles (assuming Fyber had been acquired on 1 January 2013). 

Including  separately  disclosed  items,  EBITDA  in  2014  was  €-7.0m  compared  to  €-0.3m in 2013. Net 
loss  after  SDI  was  €-20.2m in 2014  whilst  a  loss  of  €-9.6m was recorded in 2013. 

Loss per share 

Pro-forma adjusted basic loss per share for 2014 was -4c compared to -1c in 2013, based on a constant 
number of 114.5m shares in issue throughout the periods. 

Cash Flow  

Pro-forma operating cash  flow  for  2014  decreased  to  €-8.7m  from  €-3.7m in 2013. This was mainly due 
to changes in working capital resulting from the growth of the business as well as operating losses. 
Free  cash  flow  €-11.3m  compared  to  €-8.4m the year before as a result of capitalized software and 
content development.  
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Unaudited pro-forma segmental performance 2014 

Fyber 

Fyber, which offers a leading platform for publishers of mobile apps to sell their ad space inventory to 
advertisers, achieved  strong  revenue  growth  of  58%  to  €63.9m  in  2014  compared  to  €40.5m  in  2013.  
Approximately 44% and 39% of total revenues were generated in the US and EMEA respectively while 
17% originated from other countries, predominantly Brazil and Australia. 

As of December 2014, Fyber was reaching 295 million monthly users. This number has further grown 
to more than 320 million in March 2015. Fyber was able to increase the number of publishers it is 
partnering with by 70% and the number of advertisers by 22% in 2014. 

The increase in users directly reflects the success of the Fyber Mediation Platform. The Mediation 
Platform represents a key pillar of the Fyber Supply Side Platform (SSP), an ad space monetization 
suite for app developers that was launched in 2013. It allows a publisher to access a variety of different 
advertising partners (Fyber and third party) through one technical integration of  Fyber’s  program  code, 
instead of having to integrate multiple different partners. Currently Fyber does not charge for mediation 
service, as the strategy is to attract many publishers on the platform thereby increasing available 
inventory. This in turn makes the platform more attractive to demand partners and enhances the liquidity 
of the platform, increasing the monetization performance of publishers and creating network effects. 
Fyber had focused its development and sales efforts during 2014 and into 2015 strongly on the 
Mediation Platform and had introduced significant enhancements including an overhauled publisher 
dashboard and self-service tool, user segmentation and various improvements to optimization 
algorithms.  

The Ad Exchange profited specifically from the introduction of programmatic selling of video inventory 
to advertisers, an updated advertiser self-service dashboard as well as the growth it has seen in Asia. 
Fyber’s direct sales unit exhibited solid growth as direct advertisers grew increasingly sophisticated 
about the users they target; this benefitted Fyber given the high quality traffic publishers on the platform 
exhibit.  

Fyber achieved an adjusted EBITDA of €2.3m   in 2014 compared to €0.7m in 2013, largely due to 
improved gross margin.  

Fyber won a series of awards and high profile recognitions in 2014. Among other, it was elected into 
the Top 10 Mobile Marketing Companies list by industry publication VentureBeat as well as rated as 
preferred monetization platform by 18% of app developers in a survey by Statista. 

BIGSTAR Global 

In 2014, BIGSTAR Global (BSG), which develops and publishes digital edutainment content mainly for 
children as well as distributes associated hardware devices, achieved revenue growth of 8%  to  €3.0m  
as  compared  to  €2.8m  in  2013.   

The key driver for growth was the introduction of the 2nd generation of the LG Kids Pad, which was 
developed with LG Electronics with BSG being the master content provider, and was launched in August 
2014. This drove strong growth in the distribution sales business line whilst content and production 
services were slower. In addition, BSG is developing several new B2B sales channels like public 
schools and government sponsored education centres, with a unique and fully customized bundled 
offering of both hardware and content from major domestic and international publishers. 

BSG recorded  an  adjusted  EBITDA  of  €-1.2m in 2014 whilst  in  2013  adjusted  EBITDA  was  €0.7m. The 
decline reflects up-front investments in content development for the LG Kids Pad 2 and new B2B 
channels.  
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Statutory financial results 2014 

Statutory revenues  were  €17.9m  in  2014,  up  from  €0.8m  in  2013 driven by the consolidation of Fyber 
from 21 October 2014 and the growth in BSG. Adjusted  EBITDA  was  €-1.8m in 2014 compared to  
€-0.7m in 2013 resulting mainly from the full year contribution of BSG. 

Adjusted loss after tax was  €-2.8m  in  2014  compared  to  €-1.0m in 2013 driven by higher amortization 
and interest expenses but partially offset by a tax credit whilst reported net loss was  
€-16.8m   vs.   €-6.7m in the previous year mainly due to discontinued operations and non-recurring 
effects. On a statutory basis, SDIs amounted  to  €14.0m  in  2014  whilst  these  had  been  €5.7m  in  2013.  
The effects are essentially the same as explained in the section above, the amounts are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. 

Adjusted basic loss per share was -4c vs. -2c in the previous year. Reported basic loss per share was 
-25c in 2014 compared to -13c in 2013.  

Operating  cash  flow  was  €-6.7m in  2014  compared  to  €-4.9m in 2013, the difference resulting mainly 
from higher operating losses and other non-cash effects.  Free  cash  flow  was  €-9.0m in 2014 versus  
€-6.7m in the previous year. 

Financial position and financing 

RNTS Media had  net  cash  of  €9.3m  as  of  31  December  2014  compared  to  €-2.6m as of 31 December 
2013.  This  comprised  €21.1m  of cash, cash  equivalents  and  highly  liquid  investments  and  €11.8m  of  
borrowings, consisting of shareholders loans and certain bank facilities. The increase in net cash was 
primarily  driven  by  a  €36.0m capital increase as part of the Fyber acquisition offset by negative free 
cash  flow  of  €9.0m.  

Shareholders’  equity   increased   to  €172.0m  as  of  31  December  2014  compared   to  €12.2m  as  of  31  
December 2013 mainly as a result of the cash capital increase and the issuance of new shares as part 
of the consideration for the acquisition of Fyber; in total 58.0m new shares were issued in October 2014 
corresponding  to  a  capital  increase  of  €174.0m partly offset by losses for the year. 

In the context of the acquisition of Falk Realtime, RNTS Media secured on 21 April 2015 a loan for 
€4.75m  with   its  shareholder  Sapinda  Invest  S.à r.l. to finance the share component of the purchase 
price as detailed below. The maturity of the loan is 30 June 2016, the loan bears interest at 8% p.a. and 
includes a mandatory repayment clause once a convertible bond is issued. The loan is fully drawn. 

Furthermore,   RNTS   Media   entered   into   a   €35m   revolving   credit   facility,   also   with   
Sapinda Invest S.à r.l., on 4 May 2015 to provide sufficient funds to finance the on-going development 
of its business. The maturity of the facility is 31 March 2017, the facility bears interest at the higher of 
8% p.a. and Euribor + 5% and includes a mandatory repayment clause once a convertible bond is 
issued. As at 17 June 2015,  €15m of the facility was drawn. 

In addition, RNTS Media announced in March 2015 that it intends to raise a convertible bond of up to 
€150m.   The Extraordinary General Meeting on 1 April 2015 approved the bond as well as the 
associated capital increase and disapplication of pre-emptive rights. The actual issuance is planned for 
the coming weeks subject to market conditions. At that time, the majority of existing credit facilities will 
be repaid. 

Corporate governance 

Board changes  

As previously announced, there have been a number of changes to the composition of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board in 2014. 
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Hyounghoon Han was appointed to the Management Board of RNTS Media as Managing Director in 
June 2014; Andreas Bodczek and Janis Zech were appointed to the Management Board following the 
acquisition of Fyber in October 2014. Andreas Bodczek assumes the role of CEO of RNTS Media.  

Following the decision to abandon the games publishing activities, Seyol Kim left the Company and 
stepped down from the Management Board in February 2015 and was not replaced.  

Jai Paik resigned from the Company as Managing Director and CFO for personal reasons in September 
2014.  

RNTS  Media’s  COO  and  Managing  Director,  Roger  van Diepen, is stepping down from the Management 
Board with effect of the next AGM as his mission is largely accomplished. 

Ryan Kavanaugh and Guy Dubois were appointed to the Supervisory Board in July 2014, replacing Rob 
Hersov and Georg Schwegler who had stepped down. 

The Board wanted to thank all departing directors for their contributions to the development of the 
Company. 

Stock Option Plan 

As previously announced, RNTS Media decided in March 2015 to set up a Stock Options Plan (SOP) 
for senior management and employees of RNTS Media with the objective to attract and retain talent 
and provide strong incentives to drive growth and value creation. The SOP was approved at the EGM 
on 1 April 2015. Pursuant to the approvals, RNTS Media can grant its senior management and its 
employees options and issue new shares to redeem the options for up to 15% of the existing shares in 
RNTS Media. So far, 5.2m options, representing 4.5% of the shares of RNTS Media, have been issued 
at an average strike price of €3.20 per share. 

Strategic development 

The objective of RNTS Media is to become one of the top 3 independent mobile ad technology 
companies on the supply side. RNTS Media aims to achieve this through a combination of strong 
organic growth and by playing an active role in the consolidation of its market. 

Driving strong organic growth 

It is RNTS Media’s goal to continue to grow strongly and further drive liquidity onto the Fyber platform 
through investing in the platform and product development, broaden the reach of the platform and 
expand geographically. 

1. Platform and product development: Fyber aims to continue building a platform that (i) offers a broad 
range of ad formats to developers (in particular strengthens its position in non-rewarded formats), 
(ii) provides them with technical solutions that are easy to integrate onto their platform and (iii) 
enhances the return on their inventory through advanced analytics and yield optimization tools. 

2. Broadening reach with developers and advertisers: Fyber will continue to convert a growing number 
of publishers from its Mediation Platform onto the Fyber Ad Exchange. Furthermore, the Company 
plans to continue venturing into new industry verticals, e.g. news, and also plans to enter into 
strategic deals with publishers to increase available inventory as well as entering into strategic 
commercial agreements to access demand from large advertisers directly rather than through an 
intermediary. 

3. Geographic expansion: Whilst we see ample additional opportunity for growth in our established 
markets in Europe and the US, considerable untapped potential exists in Asia and Latam.  
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Consolidation and M&A  

To bolster its market position, RNTS Media seeks to play an active role in market consolidation, with 
the  goal  of  complementing  Fyber’s  existing  strong  offering  to  become  a  full-stack SSP and further grow 
in reach and scale. RNTS Media is monitoring value accretive acquisition opportunities focusing on 
businesses with significant synergy potential, along the following dimensions: 

1. Technology: RNTS Media is looking for potential acquisitions on the technology side to accelerate 
product development with the goal to offer a comprehensive product suite including potential 
acquisitions in areas such as yield optimization, ad formats (e.g. banner, native ads), data analytics 
and management, or ad serving. The acquisition of Falk Realtime in May 2015 (see below) 
represents a first step in this direction. 

2. Reach and scale: RNTS Media is looking to acquire mobile ad exchanges or ad networks with size 
and scalable products, and new non-rewarded ad formats, which the Company offers to a limited 
extent and which would result in economies of scale and synergies.  

Acquisition of Falk Realtime 

RNTS Media had announced on 22 April the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Falk Realtime 
Ltd. (Falk), a fast growing mobile advertising technology company based in Germany, for a total 
consideration   of   €10.65m in cash and shares. This first acquisition after the Fyber transaction 
demonstrates RNTS Media’s commitment to be a driving force in reshaping the mobile advertising 
industry. 

Falk is a supply-side ad tech platform, which comprises a programmatic ad exchange and ad server 
technology and targets large owned and operated publishers. The platform includes a wide range of 
functionalities like real time bidding (RTB), private marketplaces, programmatic direct campaigns as 
well as selling campaigns via a self-serviced ad server. RNTS Media plans  to  integrate  Falk’s  solution  
into the technology and product offering of its subsidiary Fyber and as such expects to generate 
substantial revenue synergies from a wider technology portfolio and cross selling. 

The consideration was satisfied  by  a  €5.9m cash payment and c.1.36m RNTS Media shares, worth 
€4.75m   at   a   share   price   of   €3.50.   These  were existing shares, which were made available by its 
shareholder Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. The acquisition was completed on 12 May 2015. 

Shareholder meeting 

RNTS Media will hold its Annual General Meeting on 30 June 2015. Invitations for the AGM have been 
published   on   the   website   of   the   Luxembourg   stock   exchange   and   on   the   Company’s   website   on   
12 June 2015. Due to the delayed publication of the annual accounts, there will be a further 
Extraordinary General Meeting in July mainly to approve the accounts. Invitations will be published in 
due course. RNTS Media decided to delay the publication of the accounts in order to achieve a clean 
audit opinion without any qualifications to going concern. 

Outlook 

2015 will be a transitional year for the business as we continue to invest significantly in building out our 
technology platform and product portfolio, as well as strengthening our organization in order to lay 
strong foundations for future growth. Whilst growth has moderated in the first half of 2015, this is largely 
due to the strong focus in previous months on growing our Mediation Platform, which drives the growth 
of publishers to the network but does not directly generate revenue. We are developing additional 
products on the Fyber Ad Exchange, notably rewarded video and we expect to see the positive impact 
of these initiatives on our financial performance in the second half of 2015.  
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For the full year, we will continue to grow strongly organically. In line with our stated strategy of 
strengthening our platform through acquisition, we would expect acquisitions to continue to contribute 
materially to our financial performance during 2015. Subject to successfully completing one or two 
further acquisitions in the second half, we would anticipate a revenue run-rate  of  about  €150m  by  year-
end. 

 



UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
RNTS Media N.V. 

PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 

EUR k 
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014  
31 Dec 

2013 
31 Dec 

 2013 
31 Dec 

2013 
  Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
  results disclosed results1)  results disclosed results1) 
   item    item  
         
Revenue 67,006 0 67,006  43,308 0 43,308 
Revenue share to third parties -40,045 0 -40,045  -26,209 0 -26,209 
Gross Margin 26,961 0 26,961  17,099 0 17,099 
         
Other operating income 2,449 543 2,992  751 52 803 
Personnel costs -14,843 -545 -15,388  -9,915 0 -9,915 
Other operating expenses -15,078 -6,458 -21,536  -7,606 -686 -8,292 
EBITDA -511 -6,460 -6,971  329 -634 -305 
         
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -2,865 -2,617 -5,482  -1,148 -2,617 -3,765 
EBIT -3,376 -9,077 -12,453  -819 -3,251 -4,070 
         
Finance income 1 0 1  1 0 1 
Finance expenses -550 0 -550  -343 0 -343 

Loss before tax -3,925 -9,077 -13,002  -1,161 -3,251 -4,412 
         
Income tax expense 225 0 225  -62 0 -62 
Loss for the year from continuing 
operations -3,700 -9,077 -12,777  -1,223 -3,251 -4,474 
         
Loss after tax for the year from discontinued 
operations 0 -7,396 -7,396  0 -5,098 -5,098 
Loss for the year -3,700 -16,473 -20,173  -1,223 -8,349 -9,572 
         
Profit / loss attributable to:        
 Owners of the parent -3,701 -16,473 -20,174  -1,222 -8,349 -9,571 

 Non-controlling interest 1 0 1  -1 0 -1 

  -3,700 -16,473 -20,173  -1,223 -8,349 -9,572 

         
         
Basic loss per share (EUR) -0.04 -0.14 -0.18  -0.01 -0.07 -0.08 
Diluted loss per share (EUR) -0.03 -0.14 -0.17  -0.01 -0.07 -0.08 

 
 

1) This column represents IFRS figures. 



PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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    1 Jan -  1 Jan - 

EUR k   
31 Dec 

2014  
31 Dec 

2013 
       
Loss before tax  -13,002  -4,412 
       
 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  5,481  3,767 
 Financial income and expenses  549  342 
 Cash flow from discontinued operations  -2,423  -3,615 
 Other non-cash effects  3,937  -6 
 Changes in provisions, employee benefit obligations  581  664 
 Changes in working capital  -3,562  -204 
Cash generated from operations  -8,439  -3,464 
 Interest received and paid  -40  -138 
 Income tax paid  -168  -68 
Net cash flow from operating activities  -8,648  -3,670 
       
 Purchases of property and equipment  -876  -202 
 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  31  2 
 Purchases, capitalisation of intangible assets  -1,909  -2,736 
 Free cash flow  -11,402  -6,606 
       
 Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired  -7,603   
 Change in investments and financial assets, net  -9,000   
 Cash flow from discontinued operations  145   
Net cash flow from investing activities   -19,212   
       
 Proceeds from the issue of shares  36,006   
 Transaction costs on the issue of shares  -1,308   
 Proceeds from long-term borrowings  0   
 Repayment of long-term borrowings  -2,591   
 Proceeds from short-term borrowings  7,956   
 Repayment of short-term borrowings  -400   
 Cash flow from discontinued operations  0   
Net cash flow from financing activities   39,663   
       
 Net changes in cash  11,803   
       
 Cash at beginning of period  763   
 Net foreign exchange difference  -26   
       
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  12,539   

!

! !



AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
RNTS Media N.V. 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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   1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 

EUR k 
Notes 31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014   
 31 Dec 

2013 
 31 Dec 

2013 
 31 Dec 

2013 
   Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
   results disclosed results 2)  results disclosed results 2) 
    Items 1)    Items 1)  
          
Revenue 6 17,907 0 17,907  780 0 780 
Revenue share to third parties  -9,449 0 -9,449  0 0 0 
Gross Margin  8,458 0 8,458   780 0 780 
          
Other operating income 7 1,114 543 1,657  3 52 55 
Personnel costs  -4,956 -242 -5,198  -86 0 -86 
Other operating expenses 8 -6,387 -6,140 -12,527   -1,414 -686 -2,100 
EBITDA  -1,771 -5,839 -7,610  -717 -634 -1,351 
          
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  -1,041 -796 -1,837  -1 -25 -26 
EBIT   -2,812 -6,635 -9,447   -718 -659 -1,377 
          
Finance income  1 0 1  0 0 0 
Finance expenses 9 -690 0 -690   -236 0 -236 
Loss for the year before tax  -3,501 -6,635 -10,136  -954 -659 -1,613 
          
Income tax expense 10 715 0 715   -71 0 -71 
Loss for the year from continuing operations -2,786 -6,635 -9,421  -1,025 -659 -1,684 
          
Loss for the year from discontinued 
operations after tax 5 0 -7,396 -7,396  0 -5,046 -5,046 

Loss for the year after tax  -2,786 -14,031 -16,817   -1,025 -5,705 -6,730 
          
Profit / loss attributable to:         
 Owners of the parent  -2,787 -14,031 -16,818  -1,025 -5,705 -6,730 

 Non-controlling interest  1 0 1   0 0 0 
          
 
Earnings per share         

         
Basic loss per share (EUR) 12 -0.04 -0.21 -0.25  -0.02 -0.11 -0.13 
Diluted loss per share (EUR) 12 -0.04 -0.20 -0.24  -0.02 -0.11 -0.13 
         
         
 
 
1) Refer  to  note  ’13.  Separately  disclosed  items’  for  additional  information. 
2) This column represents IFRS figures. 
 

 

 

 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 
  

31 Dec  
2014 

31 Dec 
2014 

31 Dec 
2014   

 31 Dec 
2013 

 31 Dec 
2013 

 31 Dec 
2013 

  Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
  results disclosed results 2)  results disclosed results 2) 
   Items 1)    Items 1)  
         
Loss for the year after tax  -2,786 -14,031 -16,817  -1,025 -5,705 -6,730 
          
To be reclassified to profit and loss in 
subsequent periods         
Exchange differences on currency translation 26.4 828 0 828  -133 0 -133 

Income tax effect  0 0 0  0 0 0 

  828 0 828  -133 0 -133 

         
Not be reclassified to profit and loss in 
subsequent periods         

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans 27 -15 0 -15  -4 0 -4 

Income tax effect  0 0 0  0 0 0 

  -15 0 -15  -4 0 -4 
Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax 11 813 0 813  -137 0 -137 
                 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -1,973 -14,031 -16,004   -1,162 -5,705 -6,867 
          
Total comprehensive income attributable to:         
 Owners of the parent  -1,974 -14,031 -16,005  -1,162 -5,705 -6,867 

 Non-controlling interest  1 0 1   0 0 0 

          

          
 
1)  Refer  to  note  ’13.  Separately  disclosed  items’  for  additional  information. 
2) This column represents IFRS figures. 
 

 

 

 

! !



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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EUR k Notes 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
        
Non-current assets     
Fixed assets     
 Intangible assets 14 15,346  3,940 
 Goodwill 15 144,383  12,543 
 Property and equipment 16 674  180 
Non-current financial assets     
 Security deposits 17 193  189 
 Other non-current financial assets 18 12,556  0 
Deferred tax assets 24 3,334  138 
   176,486  16,990 
Current assets     
Inventories 19 556  223 
Trade receivables 20 16,379  1,016 
Other receivables 21 65  344 
Other current financial assets  22 18,209  70 
Other current assets 23 803  102 
Cash and cash equivalents 25 12,078  763 
   48,090  2,518 
        
Total Assets  224,576  19,508 
      
Equity     
Issued capital 26.1 11,453  5,653 
Share Premium 26.1 184,782  17,757 
Other capital reserves 26.2 3,021  0 
Accumulated deficit 26.3 -28,038  -11,206 
Other components of equity 26.4 818  -10 
Equity attributable to shareholders of 
the company 

 
172,036  12,194 

Non-controlling interests  -20  0 
Total equity  172,016  12,194 
      
Non-current liabilities     
Employee benefit liability 27 12,589  249 
Long-term borrowings 28 2,869  2,931 
Deferred tax liabilities 24 3,584  379 
Other non-current liabilities  0  4 
   19,042  3,563 
Current liabilities     
Trade payables  11,533  398 
Other payables 29 698  2,206 
Short-term borrowings 30 8,912  385 
Other current liabilities 31 10,358  132 
Income tax payables  209  87 
Provisions 32 1,808  543 
   33,518  3,751 
        
Total liabilities  52,560  7,314 
        
Total equity and liabilities  224,576  19,508 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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 Equity attributable to owners of the parent   

EUR k 
Issued 
capital 

Share 
premiu

m 

Other 
capital 
reserve

s 

Accumu
-lated 
deficit 

Other 
compo-
nents of 
equity 

Equity 
attributab

le to 
sharehol
ders of 

the 
company  

Non-
control-

ling 
interest 

Total 
equity 

              

1 Jan 2014 5,653 17,757 0 -11,206 -10 12,194 0 12,194 
              
Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 -9,421 0 -9,421 1 -9,420 
Loss for the year from 
discontinued operations after 
tax 0 0 0 -7,396 0 -7,396  -7,396 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 -15 828 813  813 
         

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 -16,832 828 -16,004 1 -16,003 
         
Acquisition of a subsidiary 0 0 0 0 0 0 -21 -21 
Share-based payments 0 0 3,021 0 0 3,021  3,021 
Issue of share capital 5,800 168,200 0 0  174,000  174,000 
Transaction costs 0 -1,308 0 0 0 -1,308  -1,308 

Discount on low-interest 
shareholder loans 0 133 0 0 0 133  133 
         

As at 31 Dec 2014 11,453 184,782 3,021 -28,038 818 172,036 -20 172,016 

         
         

1 Jan 2013 5,000 0 0 -4,425 123 698 0 698 
              
Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 -1,684 0 -1,684 0 -1,684 
Loss for the year from 
discontinued operations after 
tax 0 0 0 -5,046 0 -5,046 0 -5,046 
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 -4 -133 -137 0 -137 
         

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 -6,734 -133 -6,867 0 -6,867 
         

         
Issue of share capital 653 17,757 0 0 0 18,410 0 18,410 
Transaction costs 0 0 0 -47 0 -47 0 -47 
         

As at 31 Dec 2013 5,653 17,757 0 -11,206 -10 12,194 0 12,194 
 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
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    1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 

EUR k  Note 
31 Dec 

2014  
 31 Dec 

2013 
       
Loss for the year before tax   -10,136  -1,613 
 Loss before tax from discontinued operations     
       
 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  4,128  1,553 
 Financial income and expenses 9 689  246 
 Discontinued operations  -3,358  -5,046 
 Profit / loss from sale of assets 14/16 55  -107 
 Other non-cash effects  2,231  84 

 
Changes in provisions, employee benefit 
obligations 27/32 82  13 

 Changes in working capital  -416  107 
Cash generated from operations  -6,725  -4,763 
 Interest received and paid  -355  -125 
 Income tax paid  415  0 
Net cash flow from operating activities  -6,665  -4,888 
       
 Purchases of property and equipment 16 -142  -64 
 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 16 12  14 
 Purchases, capitalisation of intangible assets 14 -2,258  -2,188 
 Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 14 82  462 
 Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 33 -8,234  -2,804 
 Change in investments and financial assets, net 17/22 -8,972  472 
Net cash flow from investing activities   -19,512  -4,108 
       
 Proceeds from the issue of shares 26.1 36,000  11,760 
 Transaction costs on the issue of shares 26.1 -1,308  -1,518 
 Proceeds from long-term borrowings 28 0  1,528 
 Repayment of long-term borrowings 28 -2,146  -2,824 
 Proceeds from short-term borrowings 30 5,286  200 
 Repayment of short-term borrowings 30 -385  -239 
Net cash flow from financing activities   37,447  8,907 
       

 
Cash flow-related changes in cash and cash 
equivalents  

 
11,270  -89 

       
 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  763  863 
 Net foreign exchange difference  45  -11 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 25 12,078  763 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Corporate information  
 

RNTS Media N.V., invests in mobile and online businesses with significant growth potential. 
Its principal activities are currently mobile advertising through its subsidiary Fyber and 
digital content through its subsidiary Big Star Global.  

Fyber, based in Germany, which accounts for more than 90% of 2014 pro forma Group 
revenues, has developed a mobile advertising technology platform around which the 
Company’s  growth  strategy  is  based.  Fyber´s  supply-side platform helps app developers 
and publishers monetise   their   traffic  more   efficiently.   Fyber‘s   platform   comprises   an   ad  
exchange and mediation layer which provides app developers and publishers easier access 
to a wide range of demand-side partners and advertisers as well as it offers software-based 
solutions (like ad analytics & reporting, yield optimisation, ad stack management, audience 
segmentation tools) to increase performance. Fyber also has a direct sale and certain other 
activities. 

Big Star Global, a South Korea-based provider of educational entertainment content for 
apps, ebooks and animations and distributor of hardware on which edutainment content 
can be consumed, accounts for the remaining revenues. Big Star Global has a significant 
portfolio of edutainment content (with over 5,000 app books available in English and Korean 
languages), a team of around 100 creative e-book and animation specialists plus unique 
software tools and a fully equipped sound studio. 

The Company's shares are traded on the Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
under the ISIN code NL0010315453.  

RNTS Media is incorporated in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, and is registered with the 
Dutch  Chamber  of  Commerce  under  the  number  54747805.  The  Company’s  head-office is 
at Johannisstrasse 20, 10117 Berlin, Germany.  

These consolidated financial statements have been adopted by the Supervisory Board on 
17 June 2015 and will be submitted to the General Shareholder' Meeting for approval.  

2. Significant accounting policies 
 

2.1. Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) 
and the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 
at the balance sheet date.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes the realisation of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of 
business. Having entered into a subordinated revolving credit facility with its shareholder 
Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. for a total amount of up to EUR 35 million on 4 May 2015 (see note 
'42. Events after the balance sheet date' for details), of which an amount of EUR 15 million 
had been drawn down as of the preparation date of the 2014 financial statements, the 
Directors believe that the Group has sufficient funds to continue as a going concern for at 
least 12 months after the issue of this report.  

The consolidated financial statements comprise the full year 2014. The consolidated 
financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period from 
1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013.  

The  Group’s   consolidated   financial   statements are presented in Euro, which is also the 
parent  company’s  functional  currency.  All figures are stated in thousands of Euro (EUR k) 
unless otherwise indicated. Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand Euro which may 
cause rounding differences. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative financial instruments. 

The consolidated income statement is presented closely aligned to the nature of expense 
method. Management decided to change the form of the presentation from the function of 
expenses method used in prior years. Please refer to Note '2.4 Changes in accounting 
policies and disclosures' for further details. 

 
2.2. Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of RNTS Media 
N.V. and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014. Subsidiaries are entities that are 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, RNTS Media N.V. controls an investee if and only if it has: 

x Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the investee) 

x Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 
x The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over the investee, including: 

x The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 
x Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
x The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
RNTS Media N.V. reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and 
expense of the subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date it 
ceases to control the subsidiary. 

The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries were prepared as at 
31 December 2014, the same balance sheet date as the parent company. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 
company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, 
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are 
eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest 
even if that results in a deficit balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted 
for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 
goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any 
resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised 
at fair value.  

2.3. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The following significant accounting and valuation principles were applied uniformly across 
the Group to prepare the financial statements. 

2.3.1. Business combinations and goodwill 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
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fair value at acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling 
interest  in  the  acquiree  either  at  fair  value  or  at  the  proportionate  share  of  the  acquiree’s  
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in other 
operating expenses. When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets 
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that 
is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised either in 
profit or loss or as change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of 
IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the fair value of the 
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in 
the income statement. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is,  from  the  acquisition  date,  allocated  to  each  of  the  Group’s  cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 
of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. 
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the 
disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.3.2 Foreign currencies 
 

The functional currency of the parent of the Group is Euro, which is also the currency in 
which the Group prepares its financial reports. For each entity the Group determines the 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. 
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2.3.2.1 Transactions and balances 
 

Transactions   in   foreign   currencies   are   initially   recorded   by   the  Group’s   entities   at   their  
respective functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for 
recognition.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.  

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit 
or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the 
Group’s  net  investment  of  a  foreign  operation.  These  are  recognised  in  OCI  until  the  net  
investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or 
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items 
are also recorded in OCI.  

2.3.2.2 Group companies 
 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Euro at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement. 

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at 
the reporting date. 

The exchange rates of foreign currencies to Euro, that are significant for RNTS Group, were 
subject to following changes: 

Foreign curreny per 
EUR 

Exchange rate at balance 
sheet date Average exchange rate 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 2014 2013 
 

145.78 144.85 147.25 129.61 Japanese Yen 
Korean Won 1,324.80 1,450.93 1,398.14 1,448.45 
US Dollar 1.22 1.38 1.33 1.33 
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2.3.3 Accounting for separately disclosed items 
 

In order to present the performance of the Group in a clear, consistent and comparable 
format, certain items are disclosed separately in the Income Statement.  

Separately disclosed items include:  

x One-off costs from restructuring, reorganisation and integration;  
x Non-cash accounting charges for stock options, warrants; 
x Impairment of goodwill, amortisation of acquired intangible assets;  
x Transaction costs related to acquisitions; 
x Income from reversal of such costs; 
x Discontinued operations 
x Other non-recurring income and costs for all Group companies;  
x And all the related tax effects of the items listed above.  

 
Restructuring and reorganisation costs, such as reducing overhead and consolidating 
facilities, are included in the Separately Disclosed Items as Management believes that 
these effects are not indicative of the normal operating income and expenses.  

Certain gains/losses are also disclosed separately, as they are either isolated or cannot be 
expected to occur again with any regularity or predictability and as that Management 
believes are not indicative of the normal operating gains and losses. These include for 
example, gains or losses from items such as the sale of a business or real estate, gains or 
losses on significant litigation-related matters and discontinued operations. 

Separately disclosed items also include non-cash accounting charges for stock options, 
warrants, impairment of goodwill, and amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part of 
a business combination as well as income from reversal of such costs as all these 
transactions are without cash impact in the consolidated financial statements. Furthermore 
the amortisation of acquired intangible assets is included because a significant portion of 
the purchase price for acquisitions may be allocated to intangible assets.  

Lastly, discontinued operations are disclosed separately. 

Management believes that the separate disclosure of these items enhances investors' 
understanding of the Company’s  core  operating  results  and  future  prospects  and  allows  
better comparisons of operating results that are consistent over time and with peer 
companies. Separately disclosed items are not defined by IFRS and are based on 
management judgement. 
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2.3.4 Recognition of income and expenses  
 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when payment is being 
made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, 
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties. 

The service revenue from delivering advertising services is recognised when the service is 
rendered. This occurs when the mobile device user clicks on the advertisement. 

Revenue for rendering of other services, e.g. developing of applications and other digital 
content, is recognised by reference to the stage of completion. Stage of completion is 
measured by reference to cost incurred to date on labour hours as a percentage of total 
estimated cost based on labour hours for each contract. Service revenue in terms of 
providing mobile and online games is recognised when a copy of the game is downloaded. 
In case of free-to-play games, revenue is recognised when the customers acquired non-
refundable premium features including virtual currencies that could be spent on future in-
game features. 

Revenue from the sale of LG Kids pads and respective cartridges is recognised when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer which is 
usually on delivery of the goods to the customer.  

Other income is recognised when the future inflow of economic benefits from the transaction 
can be measured reliably and was received by the Company during the reporting period. 

Operating expenses are recognised either when the corresponding goods or services are 
received. 

Interest income and expense is recorded using the effective interest method with exception 
of borrowing costs capitalised according to IAS 23.  

2.3.5 Personnel costs 
 

2.3.5.1 Short-term personnel costs 
 

Short-term personnel costs are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as result of past service by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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2.3.5.2 Share-based payment transactions 
 

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights 
(SARs), which are settled in cash, is recognised as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in liabilities, over the period during which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at settlement 
date based on the fair value of the SARs. Any changes in the liability are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

2.3.5.3 Defined contribution plan 
 

The Group periodically contributes to pension plans operated by governmental or private 
companies and recognises expense as the employees render service. The contribution 
made by the Company in excess of the required funding amount is recorded as pension 
asset whereas the contribution amount that falls short of the required funding amount is 
recorded as pension liabilities. 

2.3.5.4 Defined benefit plan 
 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the 
projected unit credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses 
resulting solely from changes in actuarial parameters, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding net interest (not applicable to the Company) and the return on plan assets 
(excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position 
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which 
they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of 

x The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
x The date that the Company recognises restructuring-related costs 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or 
asset. The Company recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation 
under personnel cost: 

x Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses 
on curtailments and non-routine settlements 

x Net interest expense or income 

2.3.6 Income tax 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in OCI. 
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2.3.6.1 Current income tax 
 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 

2.3.6.2 Deferred taxes 
 

Deferred taxes are recognised to account for the future tax effects of temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements, and for tax loss carry-forwards, using the liability method. 
Deferred taxes are measured on the basis of the tax laws already enacted or substantially 
enacted for those fiscal years in which it is probable that the differences will reverse or the 
tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary 
differences or tax loss carry-forwards only when the ability to utilise them in the near future 
appears to be reasonably certain. Deferred taxes are also recognised for temporary 
differences resulting from the fair value measurement of assets and liabilities obtained 
through business combinations. Deferred taxes relating to goodwill are recognised for 
temporary differences only when the goodwill can be utilised for tax purposes.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists 
to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and deferred taxes related 
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

2.3.7 Intangible assets 
 

Purchased intangible assets are measured at cost. Intangible assets that have a 
determinable useful life are amortised over their expected useful lives using the straight-
line method, starting from the time when they become available for use by the Group.  

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, 
the product is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable 
and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use 
or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
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Borrowing costs which are directly associated with the development of software (qualifying 
assets) are included in the cost of production until the assets in question are ready for their 
intended use. 

The details of amortisation are as follows: 

 
Useful life in 

years 
Amortisation 
method used 

Internally 
generated or 

acquired 
Software 3 - 5 Straight Line Acquired 
Customer contracts Contract Period Straight Line Acquired 
Digital content 3 Straight Line Acquired 
Development costs 6 Straight Line Acquired 

Development costs 3 Straight Line 
Internally 

generated 
Others 3 - 6 Straight Line Acquired 
Goodwill - Impairment Test Acquired 

 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life such as goodwill are not amortised. At the 
reporting date, the use of these assets by the Group is not limited by any economic or legal 
restrictions. 

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition (calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets) 
are recognised in the income statement. 

2.3.8 Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are measured at cost and are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives using the straight-line method. For purposes of depreciation, the following 
useful lives are applied: 

  
Useful life in 

years 
Depreciation 
method used 

Leaseholds improvements 2 - 3 Straight Line 
Other operational and office equipment 3 - 13 Straight Line 

 

Property and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gains or losses on the disposal of 
property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the assets) are recognised in the income statement. 
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2.3.9 Leases 
 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the 
substance of the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 

The Group classifies and accounts for leases as either a finance or operating lease, 
depending on the terms. Leases where the Group assumes substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

Lease obligations under operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods 
in which they are incurred. 

As per the reporting date, the Group has not been entered into lease contracts that qualify 
as finance lease. 

2.3.10 Impairment of intangible assets and property and equipment 
 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required,   the  Group   estimates   the   asset’s   recoverable   amount.   An   asset’s   recoverable  
amount  is  the  higher  of  an  asset’s  or  cash-generating  unit’s  (CGU)  fair  value  less  costs  of  
disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised, but will be 
tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that they are impaired.  

A previously recognised impairment loss for assets excluding goodwill will be reversed 
when the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset. The reversal is 
limited to the amount which would have resulted if previous impairment losses had not been 
recognised. A recognised impairment loss in goodwill will not be reversed. 
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2.3.11 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

The  Group’s  financial  assets  are  mainly  composed  of  cash  and  cash  equivalents,  trade  and  
other receivables and other financial assets. Financial liabilities are mainly composed of 
trade and other payables and loans and borrowings. 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial asset have expired or have been transferred to third parties, or when the Group 
has assumed a contractual obligation to pay the received cash flows immediately to a third 
party, under which substantially all the risks and rewards or the power of control were 
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation underlying the liability 
is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  

2.3.11.1 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

The cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position consist of cash in banks 
and cash on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits as defined above.  

2.3.11.2 Loans, receivables and other financial assets 
 

Upon initial recognition, loans, receivables, and other financial assets are measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost, after 
deduction of any write-downs, using the effective interest method. A write-down is taken 
when objective indications suggest that the receivable may not be fully collectible. Such an 
indication might be the insolvency or other considerable financial problems of the debtor. 
The amount of the write-down is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows from this 
receivable, discounted by using the original effective interest rate. Write-downs are charged 
against income both in the form of an account for allowances on doubtful accounts and by 
means of direct write-downs. The account for allowances on doubtful accounts is used for 
allowances on doubtful trade receivables. If, in subsequent periods, the fair value has 
objectively risen, the write-downs are reversed and recognised in income in the appropriate 
amounts.  

2.3.11.3 Borrowings and other financial liabilities 
 

Borrowings and other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost by 
application of the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income 
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate 
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest 
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rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the income 
statement. 

2.4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
 

As of 31 December 2014, the Group changed their form of analysis of the income statement 
from the straight function of expense method to a presentation more closely aligned to the 
nature of expense method. This change was primarily driven to improve the relevance and 
meaningfulness of the income statement for investors as it follows essentially the approach 
that management uses in terms of controlling and assessing performance of Fyber which 
upon its acquisition contributes the major share in respect to the Group's income and 
expense items. Further, the presentation of gross margin, calculated as the total of revenue 
and revenue share to third parties, increases the comparability with peer group companies 
as this is a key performance indicator in the ad monetisation industry. 

The comparative income statement for 2013 was adjusted respectively. The Group does 
not disclose an income statement using the straight function of expense form of analysis 
for the year 2014 anymore as it proved to be impractical to obtain the required information 
for Fyber at reasonable costs. Further, in view of the above, the information surplus would 
be limited. 

As of 31 December 2014, the Group further increased the information provided with the 
income statement by disclosing specific items separately. Please refer to Note  
'2.3.3 Accounting for separately disclosed items' for further details. 

2.5 Accounting estimates and assumptions 
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the presentation of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well 
as the reported amounts and presentation of income and expenses during the period. The 
Group based its assumptions and estimates on past experience an on other factors 
including the prevailing economic environment available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
beyond the control of the Group. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions and conditions. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Information regarding the carrying amounts determined with the use of estimates can be 
found in the comments on the specific line items. 
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2.5.1. Measurement of fair values 
 

A number of accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of the fair value 
of the Group for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

To determine the fair value of assets and liabilities, the Group uses observable market data 
as far as possible. If such inputs are not available, the management defines appropriate 
valuation methods and input parameters. Based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques, the fair values are classified in different levels in the fair value hierarchy: 

x Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for indentical assets or liabilties. 

x Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

x Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in 
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the 
entire measurement. 

The Group recognises reclassifications in different levels of the fair value hierarchy at the 
end of the reporting period in which the change occurred. 

2.5.2. Revenue recognition 
 

The recognition of revenue involves certain estimates with respect to for instance discounts. 
The Group regularly reviews the appropriateness of its assumptions.  

2.5.3. Intangible assets other than goodwill 
 

Management uses assumptions to assess the technical and commercial feasibility and the 
future economic benefit of internally generated software and digital content. Further 
estimates were applied by measuring the related development costs and determining the 
useful lives. In case that an impairment test might be required in accordance with the 
accounting   policies   (Note   ‘2.3.7. Intangible assets’),   management   uses   significant  
assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based.  

2.5.4. Income taxes 
 

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in 
tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range of 
international business relationships and the long-term nature and complexity of  
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existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the 
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes 
provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax 
authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions 
is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. 
Such differences in interpretation may arise for a wide variety of issues depending on the 
conditions prevailing in the respective domicile of the Group companies. 

Management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred taxes that can be 
recognised and with respect to changes in tax laws and the amount and timing of future 
taxable income. These judgments and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, 
hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may 
impact the amount of deferred taxes recognised and the amount of other tax losses and 
temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances the carrying amount of 
recognised deferred taxes may require adjustment. 

2.5.5. Purchase price allocation 
 

Management uses judgement on whether and when control has been acquired over an 
investee. 

Please refer to note '4. Acquisitions in 2014' for the judgement and the key assumptions 
used in the purchase price allocation. 

2.5.6. Impairment of goodwill 
 

The Group tests annually if goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policies (Note '2.3.7.  Intangible assets'). 

Please refer to note '15 Goodwill' for detailed information on estimates and key assumptions 
used to determine the necessity of an impairment, including a sensitivity analysis. 

2.5.7. Measurement of receivables and necessary impairments 
 

Individual receivables and any necessary write-downs are estimated and evaluated on the 
basis  of   the   individual  client’s  creditworthiness,  current  economic  developments,  and  an  
analysis of historical defaults. 
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2.5.8. Measurement of the equity component of the shareholder loan 
 

The equity component of the shareholder loan is determined by deducting the fair value of 
the financial liability from the fair value of the instrument as a whole. The fair value of the 
liability component is determined at fair value of a similar liability that does not have any 
equity component. For purposes of the calculation of the fair value of the liability component 
assumptions must be made with regard to the calculation of the fair value of a similar liability 
without an equity component. 

2.6. New and amended standards and interpretations 
 
RNTS Media prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with those IFRSs 
endorsed by the European Commission for use inside the European Union.  

The following overview outlines those Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB at 
December 31, 2014 which have not been applied early, as their application is either not 
mandatory or endorsement by the European Commission is still pending.  

a) New and amended standards, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014 and adopted by the Group for the first time without significant impact 
on the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2014: 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12, 
IAS 27 Investment Entities 

Amendment to IAS 32  Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 

IFRIC 21 IFRIC Interpretation 21 Levies 

Amendment to IAS 39  Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of 
Hedge Accounting 

Annual Improvements to IFRS 
2010-2012 Cycle  

Annual Improvements to IFRS 
2011-2013 Cycle  
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b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective: 

Amendments to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and 
Measurement 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and 
IAS 39 Hedge Accounting 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 18 Clarification of Accountable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint 
Operations 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
 

The potential impact of these standards on the consolidated financial statements for 
following years is under assessment by the Group. 

3. Companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
 

The scope of consolidation, including RNTS Media N.V. as parent company, comprises 
eleven fully consolidated companies. The subsidiaries and participations are as follows: 

No.  Company 
Country of 
incorporation 

% equity 
interest 

        
1 RNTS Media N.V. The Netherlands   

        
Fully consolidated companies     

2 RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH Germany 100.00 
3 RNTS Media Co., Ltd. Republic of Korea 100.00 
4 Big Star Global Co., Ltd. Republic of Korea 100.00 
5 Fyber GmbH Germany 100.00 
6 Fyber Media GmbH Germany 100,00 
7 Fyber Inc. USA 100,00 
8 SponsorPay K.K. Japan 90,63 
9 SponsorPay Korea Co., Ltd. Republic of Korea 100,00 

10 Advertile Mobile UG Germany 100,00 
    

 
4. Acquisitions in 2014 

 
4.1. General information 

 
In 2014, RNTS Media N.V. acquired 100%  of  the  shares  in  Fyber  GmbH  (‘Fyber’,  formerly  
named:  ‘SponsorPay  GmbH’),  an advertising technology company based in Berlin and San 
Francisco for EUR 150 million in cash and shares. The acquisition of Fyber will significantly 
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expand the product offerings of the Group, and Fyber will become the centrepiece of RNTS 
Media’s  future  strategy.  Fyber  has  been  fully  consolidated  from  21 October 2014 onwards. 

4.2. Purchase price allocation 
 
The purchase price allocation considers all knowledge and adjusting events about the 
conditions that existed at the acquisition date.  

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Fyber GmbH and its subsidiaries 
and goodwill at the date of acquisition were as follows: 

  Fair values of the identifiable  
  assets and liabilities acquired 
   EUR k 
   
Indemnification asset in connection with SARs 21,859 
Intangibles assets   
- Carried in Fyber books  1,350 
- Identified during purchase price allocation 11,541 
Deferred tax assets  2,705 
Other non-current assets  627 
Trade receivables  12,843 
Cash and cash equivalent  3,766 
Other current assets  723 
   
Employee benefit liability in connection with SARs -21,859 
Deferred tax liabilites  -3,462 
Other non-current liabilites  -1,939 
Other current liabilities  -13,255 
  14,899 
Non-controlling interest  21 
Goodwill arising on acquisition  135,080 
Purchase consideration transferred  150,000 

 

The trade and other receivables are carried net of bad debt allowance of about 
EUR k 1,001. The trade receivables are recognised with the book value, which 
approximates fair value. 

The employee benefit liability relates to a share appreciation right (SARs) that Fyber 
granted to employees that entitle them to a cash payment after 3 and 4 years of service, 
respectively. The SARs expire at 31 December 2020. Under the share-based plan, the 
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employees are entitled to a cash payment in case of an exit event, which is defined as 
change of control.  Due  to  sale  of  Fyber’s  shares  to  RNTS Media, the exit event occurred in 
2014. Based on an execution and reconciliation agreement, Fyber agreed with the 
respective employees to pay the amounts due under the share-based plan over the period 
of 15 months after the exit event, from 21 October 2014. The amount of cash payment is 
determined based on the increase in the share price of Fyber between grant date and the 
exit event. 

Due to the vesting of the share option plan during 2014, the liabilities for the SARs have 
been measured using the settlement amount applying the fair value of Fyber which is 
evidenced by the purchase price for the Fyber shares by RNTS Media. 

In connection with the acquisition, Fyber has entered into an indemnification agreement 
with the selling shareholders of Fyber. This agreement provides for Fyber to be indemnified 
and held harmless from any and all liabilities under the share appreciation rights (SARs). 
RNTS Media recognises a indemnification asset that is measured on the same basis as the 
corresponding employee benefit liability. 

The key assumptions of the valuation of intangible assets that were identified in excess of 
those already carried in the accounts of the acquired subsidiary were as follows: 

 
Technology Customer 

relationship 
Trademark 

Valuation methodology used Relief from 
royalty 

Multi period 
excess earnings 

Rebranding 
cost 

Useful life 6 years 4 years 15 years 
Tax 30% 30% 30% 
WACC 11,19% 11,19% - 
Other Relieved 

royalty rate of 
10% 

Customer 
relationship 

attrition rate of 
25% 

- 

 
The goodwill of EUR k 135,080 comprises the value of the expected synergies arising from 
the acquisition, as well as the workforce of highly skilled and motivated personnel which 
were not separately recognised. Fyber is reported as a separate operating segment within 
the Group and is considered a single cash generating unit to which the entire goodwill is 
allocated to on a provisional basis for 2014 financial statement purposes. None of the 
goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

Of the acquired intangible assets, none have indefinite useful lives besides goodwill.  
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The consideration for the Fyber acquisition was paid in cash and shares as follows: 

Purchase consideration analysis 
 

EUR k 
 Cash payment 12,000 

 Fair value of RNTS shares transferred as 
consideration  138,000 

     
Total purchase consideration transferred  150,000 

 

The fair value of RNTS Media shares transferred is based on the value on which the parties 
agreed upon in the Fyber acquisition. 

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: EUR k 
 Cash payment  -12,000 
 Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 3,766 
Net cash flow (included in cash flow from investing activities) -8,234 

 

Right before purchasing Fyber, RNTS issued 12,000,000 ordinary shares for a cash 
payment of EUR k 36,000, of which EUR k 12,000 were used to acquire Fyber and EUR k 
20,000 to provide Fyber with a loan. The remaining EUR k 4,000 were used mainly to cover 
transaction cost. 

Besides the cash payment of EUR k 12,000 to the sellers of Fyber, RNTS Media N.V. issued 
46,000,000 ordinary shares to the sellers (consideration shares). The fair value of the RNTS 
shares was calculated with reference to the value agreed upon in the share purchase 
agreement, which was EUR 3.00 each.  

Transaction costs of EUR k 3,101 have been expensed and are included in other operating 
expenses. The attributable costs of the issuance of the shares of EUR k 1,308 have been 
charged directly to equity as a decrease of share premium. 

From the date of acquisition, Fyber has contributed EUR k 14,925 of revenue and 
EUR k 113, to the loss before tax (EUR k 574 to adjusted profit before tax). If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, Fyber would have contributed 
EUR k 64,024 to revenue, and EUR k 3,868 to loss before tax (EUR k 705 to adjusted loss 
before tax). 
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4.3. Further important agreements related to the Fyber acquisition 
 

4.3.1. Loan agreement 
 

As part of the purchase agreement, RNTS Media granted a loan of EUR k 20,000 to Fyber 
for the expansion of the business, working capital and general purposes The loan bears an 
interest rate of 2% p.a. and will due for repayment on 31 December 2017. At Group level, 
the loan was eliminated. 

4.3.2. Put-Option agreement  
 

In the course of the acquisition, the former Fyber shareholders entered into a Put-Option 
agreement with Sapinda Asia Ltd, one shareholder of the Group, in which Sapinda Asia 
Ltd. promised to acquire the consideration shares for EUR 3.00 per share upon the 
discretion of the former Fyber shareholders as follows: 

1. 7,666,666 consideration shares between 23 December 2014 and 23 January 2015; 

2. 7,666,667 consideration shares between 23 July 2015 and 23 October 2015; 

3. 7,666,667 consideration shares between 23 November 2015 and 25 February 2016; 

4. 23,000,000 consideration shares on 25 February 2016.   
 

The first put option regarding 7,666,666 Consideration shares was exercised by the former 
Fyber shareholders on 23 December 2014, pursuant to which Sapinda Asia Ltd. purchased 
these consideration shares. 

4.3.3. Call-Option agreement 
 

Further Sapinda Asia was also granted a call option by the former Fyber shareholders 
pursuant to which it is entitled to acquire all or part of the consideration Shares, for a period 
of 18 months starting on 25 January 2016 for an exercise price of EUR 3.75 per share. 

4.3.4. Fall-Back agreement 
 

The Company granted the former Fyber shareholders, under certain conditions, the 
irrevocable right to purchase from the Company and require the Company to sell its shares 
in Fyber acquired from the former Fyber shareholders (Reversal Right). The former Fyber 
shareholders will designate one representative who will be solely authorised to exercise the 
Reversal Right on behalf of the former Fyber shareholders. In the event the Reversal Right 
is exercised by such representative, it may only be exercised for the benefit of the former 
Fyber shareholders. 
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The Reversal Right under the Fall-Back Agreement can be exercised only in specific limited 
circumstances: 

x in the event of a default of Sapinda Asia Ltd. under the Option Agreement; or 

x in  the  event  of  a  ‘governance  breach’  by  the  Company  in  relation  to  Fyber,  such  as,  
inter alia: 

i) amendments to articles 

ii) issuance of shares, securities or hybrid instruments 

iii) reorganisations 

iv) sale, acquisition or redemption of Fyber shares 

v) certain changes to the management board 

vi) incurring debt or declaring dividends over/under certain thresholds 

The Reversal Right may be exercised during a period of 15 months after the closing day of 
21 October 2014. 

The consideration for the Fyber shares purchased by each former Fyber shareholder under 
the Fall-Back agreement will be the return of the Consideration shares held at the time of 
exercising the Reversal Right. In case that former Fyber shareholders have already sold 
shares under the Option Agreement  the   ‘exchange  ratio’   for   the  consideration  under  the  
Fall-Back Agreement will be set as follows: each former Fyber shareholder shall purchase 
from the Company such number of Fyber shares out of the total number of issued and 
outstanding Fyber shares at the time of exercising the Reversal Right as corresponds pro 
rata with the number of shares in the Company held by such holder of Consideration shares 
at the time of exercising the Reversal Right out of the total number of Consideration shares 
(notwithstanding any adjustments to compensate for rounding). 

In case that the Reversal Right is exercised, the loan described under '4.3.1. Loan 
agreement’  can  at  the  sole  discretion  of  the  former  Fyber  shareholders  be  converted into 
non-voting preferences shares based on a pre-money valuation of Fyber of 150 Mio. EUR. 
Further, the employees entitled to the share appreciation right forfeit the right to receive 
further payments based on the Fyber acquisition but with the share appreciation program 
to continue for those SARs not yet vested. 

Management analysed the Fall-back agreement and came to the conclusion that it did not 
prevent RNTS Media to obtain control over Fyber. 
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5. Discontinued operations 
 
The online and mobile game publishing business, as well as the global sales activities, did 
not develop as to expectations, as the games market has shifted rapidly towards mobile 
apps, and cultural differences negatively impacted the ability to distribute Korean content 
in Europe successfully. 

Consequently, management decided in 2014 to abandon the online game and mobile game 
publishing business as well as the global sales business operated through their subsidiaries 
RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH (online games and global sales) and RNTS Media Co. 
Ltd. (mobile games). 

The contribution of these businesses to consolidated income and expense is presented 
separately from these of the continuing operations, and is split as follows:  

 1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 
 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 

    
Revenue 289  1,957 
Revenue share to third parties -90  -283 
Gross Margin 199  1,674 
    
    
Other operating income 615  158 
Personnel costs -828  -1,857 
Other operating expenses -2,092  -3,512 
EBITDA -2,106  -3,537 
    

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -5,286  -1,496 
Operating loss -7,392  -5,033 
    
Finance income 6  2 
Finance expenses -17  -12 
Loss before tax -7,403  -5,043 
    
Income tax expense 7  -3 
Loss for the year from    
discontinued operations after tax -7,396  -5,046 
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The Group impaired in 2014 all assets and goodwill related to these businesses it had not 
already impaired in 2013. The total impairment in 2014 amounted to EUR k 4,899 following 
an amount of EUR k 1,034 incurred in 2013. These figures were included in the table above. 

Both RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH and RNTS Media Co. Ltd have been substantially 
wound down with limited cost to be incurred in 2015. 

In order to provide income and expenses on a comparable basis, the income statement for 
2013 was adjusted respectively. 

The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations are as follows: 

 1 Jan –  1 Jan – 
 31 Dec 2014   31 Dec 2013 
EUR k    
Operating -3,358  -5,046 
Investing 145  -1,729 
Financing 0  602 
    
Net cash (outflow) -3,213  -6,173 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

6. Revenue 
 

 1 Jan to   1 Jan to  
 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Advertising services 14,925  0 
Media production services 1,692  350 
Sales of digital media 684  430 
Hardware distribution 606  0 
 17,907  780 

 
Advertising services relates to the revenue realised through Fyber. Management considers 
that the following factors indicate that the Group does not act as an agent: 

x The Group has significant responsibility of the services rendered, 

x Credit risk is born by the Group, 

x The Group can vary the selling prices and does not get a commission 

 
Media production services represents the traditional business of Big Star Global whereby 
digital content is developed for third-party IP owner like publishers for a fee. Sales of digital 
media mainly relates to revenue realised through the use of self developed content. 
Revenue from hardware distribution is realised through the sale of content related hardware 
such as 'LG Kids Pad' or respective cartridges, either directly to the customers (realising a 
margin per piece sold) or through other distribution channels (realising a license fee). 
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7. Other operating income 
 
Other operating income breaks down as follows:  
 

 
1 Jan to  1 Jan to  

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Reversal of provisions 867 52 
Currency transaction gains 686 0 
Miscellaneous 104 3 
Other operating income 1,657 55 

 
The reversal of accrued expenses mainly consists of an allowance of EUR k 525 for VAT 
risks of the Company recognised in 2013 and reversed in 2014 after the finalisation of a 
special VAT audit by the German tax authorities. 

8. Other operating expenses 
 

The following table provides an overview of the material items of other operating expenses: 

 
1 Jan to   1 Jan to  

31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    

Legal and consulting costs 4,072  651 
Business consultancy services 3,021  0 
Commissions 1,438  101 
Consumables 1,006  76 
Foreign currency transactions 656  0 
Audit and accounting 638  254 
Bad debt expenses 599  29 
Sales promotion 377  0 
Rental 335  6 
External services 324  0 
Education /Training 237  0 
Contributions 218  0 
Travelling expense 179  77 
Design service charges 158  137 
Hosting 133  0 
Licences and concessions 119  0 
Miscellaneous 429  865 
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Subtotal 13,939  2,196 
Capitalisation of development cost -1,412  -96 
Other operating expenses 12,527  2,100 

 
The increase of legal and consulting costs in 2014 were mainly caused by the transaction 
costs in connection with the acquisition of Fyber (note '13. Separately disclosed items'). 

The expenses recognised for business consultancy services of EUR k 3,021 relate to the 
consulting agreements entered into with Ryan Kavanaugh through Knight Global Services 
as well as Dirk Van Daele. Mr. Kavanaugh and Mr. van Daele are also Supervisory Board 
Members of the Group. Under this agreement RNTS receive access to the specific 
expertise as well to the various business contacts of the consultants. The contracts have 
no defined term and can be terminated by either party within a three-month period. For their 
services, Knight Global Services and Dirk Van Daele received a remuneration in kind of a 
warrant to purchase up to a maximum of 2,700,000 and 2,000,000 shares respectively for 
a price of 3.00 EUR per share (note '26.2. Other capital reserves'). Since the warrants 
vested immediately, IFRS 2 requires RNTS to expense in full the fair value of the warrants 
at grant date, regardless of the indefinite term of the business consultancy agreements and 
the 4-year term of the warrants. 

9. Finance expenses  
 
Finance expenses of EUR k 690 (2013: EUR k 236) relates solely to interest on external 
loans. 
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10. Income tax expense 
 
The major components of income tax expense are as follows: 

  
1 Jan to 31 

Dec 2014 
1 Jan to 31 

Dec 2013 
Breakdown of income tax reported in profit or loss EUR k EUR k 
    
Current income tax charge  573 -79 
Deferred tax     
 - Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 
differences 142 5 
Discontinued operations 0 3 
Income tax charged to profit or loss  715 -71 
    
Breakdown of income tax reported in OCI    
   
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during 
the year   
- Income tax income on acturial losses  0 1 
Income tax charged to OCI  0 1 

 

Reconciliation of accounting loss to income tax expense / income: 

 1 Jan to 1 Jan to 
 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Accounting loss before tax -10,136 -1,613 
Applicable tax rate 30.175% 22.000% 
Income tax at applicable tax rate -3,059 -355 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2 0 
Impairment of goodwill 1,265 6 
Impairment on deferred tax assets 62 3 
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets   
Unrecognised deferred tax assets in fiscal year 2,442 398 
Use of unrecognised deferred tax assets not yet 
being recognised  0 -2 
Research and development tax credit 0 -2 
Others 3 23 
Discontinued operations 0 -3 

Income tax expense / income (-) reported in 
the statement of comprehensive income 715 71 
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As per the fiscal year 2013 the Group has generated the major part of taxable income 
through their subsidiaries in Korea. Therefore, the tax rate applicable in Korea was used. 
With the acquisition of Fyber in 2014 the vast majority of revenues is generated in Germany 
and the tax rate applied in Germany is deemed to be more valid to be used as Group tax 
rate from 2014 onwards. 

For that reason, the tax rate applied increased from 22% in 2013 to about 30% in 2014. 

11. Other comprehensive income 
 
An income tax effect in relation to the exchange differences on currency translation was not 
recognised. In case that taxable temporary differences may arise in this respect, the parent 
is able to control the timing of the reversal of such temporary differences and it is probable 
that those differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

12. Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income of the year 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of RNTS Media N.V. by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share amounts calculated by dividing the net income of the year 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of RNTS Media N.V. by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 
shares into ordinary shares. 

The basic and diluted earnings per share were determined as follows: 

  1 Jan to  1 Jan to  
  31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2013 
Net income attributable to shareholders of     
RNTS Media N.V. EUR k -16,816 -6,730 
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic 000s 67,816 52,212 
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted 000s 70,123 52,212 
    
Net income attributable to shareholders    
of RNTS Media N.V. per share    
Basic loss per share EUR  -0.25 -0.13 
Diluted loss per share EUR -0.24 -0.13 
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13. Separately disclosed items 
 

Please refer to note '2.3.3. Accounting for separately disclosed items' for the accounting 
policies with respect to the recognition of separately disclosed items. 

Separately disclosed items break down as follows: 

  1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 

  
31 Dec 

2014  
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k  EUR k 
     
One-off costs from restructuring, reorganisation, and 
integration 0  0 
     
Non-cash accounting charges for stock options, 
warrants etc. -3,021  0 
     
Impairment of goodwill, amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets -796  -25 
     
Transaction costs related to acquisitions -3,361  -106 
     
Income from reversal of such costs 0  0 
     
Discontinued operations -7,396  -5,046 
     
Other non-recurring income and costs 543  -528 
     
Related tax effects of the items listed above 0  0 
       
  -14,031  -5,705 

 
Non-cash stock option charges, warrants etc. relate to the business consulting agreements 
with Dirk Van Daele and Knight Global Services entered into in 2014. Please refer to note 
'8. Other operating expenses' for further details. 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles assets relate to intangibles identified in the business 
combination with Fyber and Big Star Global. Please refer to note '14. Intangible assets' for 
further details. 

Transaction costs relate to the acquisitions of Fyber in 2014 and Big Star Global in 2013 
and consist mainly of due diligence, legal advice and other consultancy services. 
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Discontinued operations relates mainly to the closing down of the online and mobile game 
publishing business as well as global sales operated by the subsidiaries RNTS Media 
Deutschland GmbH and RNTS Media Co., Ltd in 2014 with retrospective adjustment of the 
income statement of the prior year 2013. The expenses 2014 include impairment of goodwill 
of EUR k 4,038. Please refer to note '5. Discontinued operations' for further details. 

Other non-recurring income and expenses mainly consists of an allowance of EUR k 524 
for VAT risks of the Company recognised in 2013 and reversed in 2014. In addition to that, 
income was recognised separately from the uneventful expiration of a guaranty granted in 
the course of the acquisition of Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 

There is a surplus on tax losses that is not recognised for IFRS purpose since recoverability 
is uncertain. So no tax effect result from separately disclosed items. As long as separately 
disclosed items are having an impact on DTL (impairment of intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination), the tax effect is neutralised by writing down DTA. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

14. Intangible assets 
 

 
Customer 
contracts 

Develop
ment 

Digital 
content 

Technolo
gy Others Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
       
Acquisition or  
production cost       
1 Jan 2013 287 0 0 197 817 1,301 
Acquisition of BSG 745 1,423 649 0 25 2,842 
Additions  0 92 0 0 2,096 2,188 
Disposals 0 0 0 0 -311 -311 
Transfer 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Currency effects  -14 -10 -5 -6 -1 -36 
31 Dec 2013 1,018 1,505 644 191 2,626 5,984 
       
1 Jan 2014 1,018 1,505 644 191 2,626 5,984 
Acquisition of Fyber 4,634 1,350 0 6,730 177 12,891 
Additions  0 2,223 0 0 35 2,258 
Disposals 0 0 0 0 -705 -705 
Transfer 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Currency effects  97 143 61 18 7 326 
31 Dec 2014 5,749 5,221 705 6,939 2,140 20,754 
       
Amortisation and  
impairments       
1 Jan 2013 28 0 0 27 587 642 
Additions 60 73 18 56 223 430 
Disposals 0 0 0 0 -32 -32 
Impairment charges 0 0 0 0 1,006 1,006 
Currency effects -1 0 0 -1 0 -2 
31 Dec 2013 87 73 18 82 1,784 2,044 
       
1 Jan 2014 87 73 18 82 1,784 2,044 
Additions 370 2,104 234 277 100 3,085 
Disposals 0 0 0 0 -609 -609 
Impairment charges 163 0 0 60 639 862 
Currency effects 8 7 2 8 1 26 
31 Dec 2014 628 2,184 254 427 1,915 5,408 
       
Carrying amounts       
       
1 Jan 2013 259 0 0 170 230 659 
31 Dec 2013 931 1,432 626 109 842 3,940 
31 Dec 2014 5,121 3,037 451 6,512 225 15,346 
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In 2014, the increase in intangible assets related mainly to intangible assets acquired 
through the business combination with Fyber. The increase in the Development asset of 
EUR k 2,223 refers to self-developed content created by Big Star Global (EUR k 1,490) and 
self-developed software capitalised by Fyber (EUR k 733). 

The remaining amortisation periods for intangible assets that are material to the financial 
statements are as follows: 

Asset 
Carrying 
amount 

Remaining 
amortisation 

period 
  EUR k Years 

   
Customer contracts 5,121 4 – 8 
   
Development 3,037 5.5 - 6 
   
Digital content 451 2 
   
Technology 6,512 6 

 

As per the reporting date, the Group recognised impairments of intangible assets of 
EUR k 862 that relates to RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH and RNTS Media Co., Ltd. The 
impairment mainly consists of EUR k 639 that were made in relation to the Appstore and 
EUR k 163 relating to customer contracts of the Korean subsidiary due to the 
discontinuation of the associated business operations. 

Both, the Appstore and the customer contracts belong to the operating segment 'Other'. 
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15. Goodwill 
 

The  goodwill   results  solely   from   the  acquisitions   in   the  Group’s  subsidiaries  and  breaks  
down as follows  

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
Goodwill from the acquisition of   
- RNTS Media Co., Ltd., Korea   

Goodwill as at acquisition 4,038 4,038 
Currency effects 0 11 
Impairment -4,038 0 

 0 4,049 
   
- Big Star Global Co., Ltd., Korea   

Goodwill as at acquisition 8,557 8,557 
Currency effects 746 -63 
 9,303 8,494 

   
- Fyber GmbH, Germany   

Goodwill as at acquisition 135,080 0 
 135,080 0 
   
 144,383 12,543 

 

15.1. RNTS Media Co., Ltd. 
 

The goodwill was allocated to the mobile game business unit within the subsidiary upon 
acquisition. Due to the abandonment of the mobile game business the goodwill of RNTS 
Media Co., Ltd. was fully impaired.  

15.2. Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 
 

The goodwill was allocated to the cash generating unit 'Big Star Global'. The goodwill of the 
CGU was tested based on the recoverable amount being the higher of the value in use and 
the fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value less cost of disposal was determined 
using trading multiples comparable companies and the value in use was based on cash 
flow projections that were derived from financial budgets approved by senior management 
covering a five-year period. The key assumptions of the cash flow projections are as follows: 
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Compound annual growth rate of gross revenue (CAGR) 
- during the forecast period of 5 years 30.18% 
- beyond the forecast period 2.50% 
Post-tax discount rate 12.11% 

 

Based on these assumptions, the recoverable value of the cash generating unit Big Star 
Global exceeds its carrying amount including goodwill and an impairment was not 
recognised. 

The calculation of the value in use is most sensitive to the growth rate of gross revenue 
applied both during and beyond the explicit forecast period as well as the post-tax discount 
rate applied. Therefore, sensitivity tests were performed by varying the following 
assumptions, holding all other variables constant: 

 

Recoverable 
amount higher than 

carrying value? 
- A 10% lower revenue growth in the forecast period yes 
- A 10% lower revenue growth beyond the forecast period yes 
- A 10% higher post-tax discount rate yes 

 

None of the sensitivity test resulted in an impairment need. 

15.3. Fyber GmbH 

The goodwill was allocated to the cash generating unit 'Fyber'. The goodwill of the CGU 
was tested based on the recoverable amount being the higher of the value in use and the 
fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value less cost of disposal was determined using 
trading multiples of comparable companies and the value in use was based on cash flow 
projections that were derived from financial budgets approved by senior management 
covering a fifteen-year period, of which the first five years are based on a detailed budget 
and the additional ten years on a high-level cash flow forecast. The key assumptions of the 
cash flow projections are as follows: 

Compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 
- gross revenue during the detailed forecast period of 5 years 35.09% 
- free cash flow during the high-level forecast period of 10 years 4.11% 
- free cash flow beyond the forecast period 2.00% 
Post-tax discount rate 11.19% 
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Management expects the Fyber business to grow strongly beyond the usual five-year 
forecast period. Before that background, a fifteen-year forecast period is more appropriate. 
Based on these assumptions, the recoverable value of the cash generating unit Fyber 
exceeds its carrying amount including goodwill and an impairment was not recognised. 

The calculation of the value in use is most sensitive to the growth rate of gross revenue 
applied both during and beyond the explicit forecast period as well as the post-tax discount 
rate applied. Therefore, sensitivity tests were performed by varying the following 
assumptions, holding all other variables constant: 

 

Recoverable 
amount higher than 

carrying value? 
- A 10% lower revenue growth in the forecast period yes 
- A 10% lower revenue growth beyond the forecast period yes 
- A 10% higher post-tax discount rate yes 

 

None of the sensitivity test resulted in an impairment need. 

.
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16. Property and equipment 
 

The following table shows the development of property and equipment: 

 

Other 
operational 

and office 
equipment 

Land and 
buildings Total 

 EUR EUR EUR 
    
Acquisition or production cost    
1 Jan 2013 295 0 295 
Acquisition of Big Star Global Co. Ltd. 44 0 44 
Additions  64 0 64 
Disposal -122 0 -122 
Currency effects  -8 0 -8 
31 Dec 2013 273 0 273 
    
1 Jan 2014 273 0 273 
Acquisition of Fyber 355 215 570 
Additions  78 64 142 
Disposal -54 0 -54 
Currency effects  22 0 22 
31 Dec 2014 674 279 953 
    
Depreciation and impairments    
1 Jan 2013 37 0 37 
Additions 71 0 71 
Disposal -33 0 -33 
Currency effects  -1 0 -1 
Impairment 19 0 19 
31 Dec 2013 93 0 93 
    
1 Jan 2014 93 0 93 
Additions 117 30 147 
Disposal 33 0 33 
Currency effects  6 0 6 
31 Dec 2014 249 30 279 
    
Carrying amounts    
    
1 Jan 2013 258 0 258 
31 Dec 2013 180 0 180 
31 Dec 2014 425 249 674 

 
Other operational and office equipment were impaired due to the discontinued operations 
of RNTS Media Co., Ltd. in 2014. The recoverable amount was determined used the fair 
value Iess cost of disposal, the fair value being derived from observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the assets.  
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17. Security deposits 
 

This security deposits contain the following amounts: 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Leasehold deposits  175 138 
Other deposits  18 51 
Security deposits  193 189 

 

 
Leasehold deposits and other deposits are cash deposits provided as security to the 
landlord, copier service and insurance companies. The deposits are not interest bearing 
and will be refunded upon the termination of the respective contract.  

18. Other non current-financial assets 
 
The amount of EUR k 12,556 results completely from the indemnification claim relates to a 
claim of Fyber the get reimbursed for any payments that have to be made in connection 
with the stock appreciation right that has been triggered by the acquisition of Fyber. Any 
indemnification claim that is due within the 12 month after the balance sheet date is 
recognised in 'Other current financial assets'. Please refer to note '4.2. Purchase price 
allocation' for further details. 

19. Inventories 
 

The amount of EUR k 556 (2013: EUR k 223) arises completely from the subsidiary Big 
Star Global Co., Ltd. 

20. Trade receivables 
 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Trade receivables  16,379 1,016 
Trade receivables 16,379 1,016 

 

The trade receivables of EUR k 16,379 include allowance for bad debts of EUR k 1,046 
(2013: EUR k 17). 
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As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the aging of trade receivables is as follows: 

  Neither      
   past      
  due nor Past due but not impaired 

 Total impaired < 30 days 
30 - 60 
days 

61 - 90 
days 

91 - 120 
days > 120 days 

        
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
        
2014 16.379 15.586 287 179 300 0 27 
        
2013 1.016 998 6 1 4 0 7 

 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 - 90 day term. 
Please refer to note '38. Financial assets and liabilities' for further information. 

21. Other receivables 
 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Loan receivables  0 151 
Accrued revenue  1 1 
Others  64 192 
Other receivables 65 344 

 

The other receivables of EUR k 65 include allowance for bad debts of EUR k 256 (2013: 
EUR k 219) 
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22. Other current financial assets 
 

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Imdemnification claim in respect to 
Fyber SAR (short term) 9,031 0 
Deposit account at Shard Capital 9,000 0 
Paypal accounts 102 0 
Credit card deposit 76 70 
Other current financial assets 18,209 70 

 
The indemnification claim relates to a claim of Fyber the get reimbursed for any payments 
that have to be made in connection with the stock appreciation right that has been triggered 
by the acquisition of Fyber. Any indemnification claim that is due later than the 12 month 
after the balance sheet date is recognised in 'Other non-current financial assets'. Please 
refer to note '4.2. Purchase price allocation' for further details. 

In the course of the Fyber acquisition, RNTS granted a loan to Fyber of 20 million EUR of 
which 9 million were paid to an account at Shard Capital Partners LLP which does not 
qualify as a cash equivalent but is a highly liquid investment. 

23. Other current assets 
 

The following table summarises the components of other current assets:  

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
VAT receivables  455 53 
Advance payments  37 33 
Income tax receivables  26 1 
Prepaid expenses  282 4 
Other receivables  3 11 
Other current assets  803 102 

 

24. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
 

The deferred tax assets (DTA) and liabilities (DTL) developed during the reporting period 
as follows: 
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Deferred tax assets Employee 
benefit 
liability 

Tax loss 
carry-

forwards Total 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k 
1 Jan 2013 0 117 117 
Acquisition of Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 58 0 58 
Increase of employee benefit liability 2 0 2 
Allowance on tax loss carry forwards to 
be utilised 0 -39 -39 
31 Dec 2013 60 78 138 
    
1 Jan 2014 60 78 138 
Recognition of tax loss carry forwards to 
be utilised  0 3,334 3,334 
Decrease of employee benefit liability -60 0 -60 
Allowance on tax loss carry forwards to 
be utilised 0 -78 -78 
31 Dec 2014 0 3,334 3,334 

 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Intangible 

assets Total 
 EUR k EUR k 
1 Jan 2013 117 117 
Acquisition of Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 307 307 
Amortisation -42 -42 
Currency effects -3 -3 
31 Dec 2013 379 379 
   
1 Jan 2014 379 379 
Acquisition of Fyber GmbH 3,462 3,462 
Amortisation -230 -231 
Impairment of RNTS Media Co., Ltd. -60 -60 
Currency effects 33 34 
31 Dec 2014 3,584 3,584 

 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets when deductible temporary differences are 
realisable. There is uncertainty regarding the realisation of deductible temporary differences 
in the future for all Group entities. Therefore the Group recognises deferred tax assets 
arising from temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards for those entities for the time 
being only to the extent that respective deferred tax liabilities are recognised and which 
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have the similar expectation to be realised as deferred tax assets. For this purpose only 
deferred tax liabilities were qualified which relate to the same tax entity and which have the 
similar expectation to be realised than the deferred tax assets. As a result, the Group 
recognised deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards of Fyber GmbH and Big Star 
Global Co. Ltd. 

The temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards that were not recognised are as 
follows: 

       Deferred tax  
       assets (+) / 
 Unrecognised temporary differences  liabilities (-) 

 
31 Dec 
2013 Correction Increase 

Currency 
effect 

31 Dec 
2014  31 Dec 2014 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k  EUR k 
        
Bad debt allowance 78 0 169 7 254  56 
Accrual income -1 0 0 0 -1  0 
Accrual expense 27 0 773 1 801  176 
Employee benefits 0 0 30 0 30  7 
Tax loss 
carryforwards 9,549 0 9,274 407 19,230  5,272 
 9,653 0 10,246 415 20,314  5,511 

 

25. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following items: 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Cash at banks  11,773 763 
Call deposits  305 0 
Cash on hand  0 0 
  12,078 763 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are freely available. 

A short term deposit of EUR k 9,000 which was held as at 31 December 2014 in an account 
by Shard Capital Partners is carried in other current financial assets. Despite the fact that 
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it is readily available at short notice, it does not meet the requirements to be classified as 
cash and cash equivalents. 

26. Equity 
 

The components and changes in consolidated equity are summarised in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity. 

26.1. Issued capital and share premium 
 

The issued capital of RNTS Media N.V. amounting EUR k 11,453 is divided into 
114,533,333 common shares, with a nominal value of EUR 0.10 each. The issued capital 
as of 31 Dec 2014 consisted entirely of fully paid-up ordinary shares. At the reporting date 
the shares were publicly traded, the admission to listing on the Official List of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to trading on the Euro MTF market was applied on 
15 November 2012. The stock exchange trading started on 8 January 2013. Development 
of ordinary shares was as follows: 

  

Ordinary 
shares  
issued 

Ordinary 
shares 

outstanding 

Nominal 
value 
(acc.) 

Share 
premium 

Share 
premium 

per 
share 

   (acc.) EUR k EUR k EUR 

23-Feb-12 Incorporation 450,000 450,000 45   

24-Oct-12 Capital increase 49,550,000 50,000,000 5,000     

31-Dec-12 
Year end 
capital 50,000,000 50,450,000 5,045   

13-Jun-13 Capital increase 4,200,000 54,200,000 5,420 11,340 2.70 

6-Nov-13 Capital increase 2,333,333 56,533,333 5,653 6,417 2.75 

31-Dec-13 
Year end 
capital 56,533,333 56,533,333 5,653 17,757  

21-Oct-14 Capital increase 58,000,000 114,533,333 11,453 168,200 2.90 

 
Transaction 
costs    -1,308  

31-Dec-14 

Discount of low 
interest of 
shareholder 
loans    133  

       

31-Dec-14 Reporting date 114,533,333 114,533,333 11,453 184,782  
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Further, the Group was granted three loans by Sapinda Asia Ltd, bearing interest between 
3.55% p.a. and 3.34% p.a. Compared to a risk-adjusted market rate of 8% p.a. the fair value 
of the loan received was recognised with a discount to the loan amount of a total of EUR k 
133. Further discounts on other shareholder loans provided by SYSK Ltd. and Lars 
Windhorst in prior years were not recognised as the value would not differ materially as per 
the balance sheet date. Please refer to note '28.  Long-term borrowings' and '30. Short-
term borrowings' for further details.  

The authorised capital amounts to EUR k 25,000 and is divided into 250,000,000 shares, 
with a nominal value of EUR 0.10 each. According to the warrant agreements (see note 
26.2) 4,700,000 shares are reserved to exercise the warrants. 

26.2. Other capital reserves 
 

The other capital reserves consist of equity-settled share-based payment transactions 
(EUR k 3,021).  

The share-based payments relate to the warrants granted by RNTS to Ryan Kavanaugh 
through Knight Global Services and Dirk Van Daele for the provision of business 
consultancy services (note '8. Other operating expenses). The warrants allow Ryan 
Kavanaugh through Knight Global Services to acquire 2,700,000 and Dirk Van Daele 
2,000,000 shares of RNTS for EUR 3.00 each. According to IFRS 2, the transaction of the 
warrants is equal to an equity-settled share-based payment transaction. The value of the 
equity instrument, which is calculated with the Black Scholes Model, is shown in the capital 
reserves at fair value. The warrants have a duration of 4 years. There is no cash settlement 
of the options. The warrants vested immediately and can be exercised starting one year 
following the contract date. Therefore, the fair value of the warrants was estimated at the 
grant date with the following assumptions applied: 

 Knight Global Services Dirk Van Daele 
Contract date  28 June 2014 14 July 2014 
Weighted average fair value at    
initial recognition date (EUR k) 1,826 1,195 
Weighted average share price 
(EUR): 3.06 2.96 

Exercise price (EUR): 3.00 3.00 
Historical volatility (%): 26.4 25.9 
Warrant life (years): 4 4 
Risk-free interest rate (%): 2.84 2.41 

Dividends (%): No dividends are 
considered 

No dividends are 
considered 
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The number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of the warrants are reported as 
follows:  

        Number  WAEP 
           EUR 
Outstanding at the beginning of the period:     0   

Granted during the period:    4,700,000  3,00 

Forfeited during the period:       0   

Excercised during the period:       0   

Expired during the period:       0   

Outstanding at the end of the period:   4,700,000  3,00 

Excercisable at the end of the period:     0 

As the warrants have vested already as per the terms of the warrant agreement irrespective 
of the continued performance of the business consultancy services, the fair value of the 
warrants at grant date of EUR k 1,826 and EUR k 1,195 has been expensed (note '8. Other 
operating expenses'). 

26.3. Accumulated deficit 
 

The accumulated deficit includes the income of the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements plus actuarial gains that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods as well as transaction costs in connection with the issuance of capital. 

26.4. Other components of equity 
 

Other components of equity consists solely of losses resulting from the translation of the 
accounts of the foreign subsidiaries from local currency , which is the functional currency 
of these subsidiaries, into Euro which is the functional currency of the parent company and 
the reporting currency of the Group. 
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 EUR k 
  
Total currency effect as per 31 Dec 2012 123 
  
Goodwill (arising from acquisition of RNTS Media Co., Ltd) -117 
Goodwill (arising from acquisition of Big Star Global Co., Ltd) -63 
Intangible assets (identified at acquisitions in excess to other net assets) -16 
Deferred tax liabilities (on intangible assets above) -3 
Other net assets  66 
  
Total currency effect 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2013 -133 

  
Total currency effect as per 31 Dec 2013 -10 

  
Goodwill (arising from acquisition of RNTS Media Co., Ltd) -10 
Goodwill (arising from acquisition of Big Star Global Co., Ltd) 809 
Intangible assets (identified at acquisitions in excess to other net assets) 159 
Deferred tax liabilities (on intangible assets above) -36 
Other net assets  -600 
Recycling of currency translation effects arising from RNTS Media Co., 
Ltd) 445 
Additional currency effects (arising from consolidation of Fyber GmbH) 59 
Correction of DTA in connection with Big Star Global 31.12.2013 2 
  
Total currency effect 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2014 828 
  
Total currency effect as per 31 Dec 2014 818 

 
 
27. Employee benefit liability  

 
The employee benefit liability relates to the remaining obligation from the share appreciation 
rights assumed by RNTS Media through the acquisition of Fyber amounting to 
EUR k 21,589 as of the balance sheet date as well to a defined benefit plan that is operated 
by Big Star Global Co., Ltd and amount to EUR k 355 (2013: EUR k 249). 

For further details on liabilities from share appreciation rights, please refer to note 
'4.2. Purchase price allocation'. In terms of the defined benefit plan, all employees of Big 
Star Global are granted a single payment after retiring from their employment or leaving the 
company for other purposes. The contribution per employee to the plan is calculated 
according to the Korean labour law. 



 

65 
 
 

The disbursement schedule on the employee benefit liability is as follows: 

 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Maturity in 1 year 9,081  0 
Maturity in 2-5 years 12,589  0 
Maturity in 5-10 years 0  249 
Maturity in 10 years and more 0  0 
Total employee benefit liability 21,670  249 

 
The short-term part of the employee benefit liability is recognised in the other current 
liabilities. 

The following table summarises the components of net benefit expense recognised in the 
income statement and amounts recognised in the statement of financial position: 

 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Current service cost 166  8 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 8  0 
Net benefit expense 174  8 
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Changes in present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
 

 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 

 

Total 

 

thereof 
recognised in 

the other 
comprehensive 

income   

Total 
thereof 

recognised in 
the other 

comprehensive 
income  

       
 EUR k  EUR k  EUR k EUR k 
         
Defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of 
reporting period 249  0  0 0 
       
Acquisition of Big Star 
Global at 1.12.2013 0  0  238 0 
       
Current service cost 166  0  8 0 
       
Interest cost 8  0  0 0 
       
Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 16  -15  5 -5 
Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from changes in 
financial assumptions  0  0  0 0 
Payments made in the 
system -108  0  0 0 
Currency effect 24  0  -2  
Defined benefit obligation 
at the end of reporting 
period 355   -15   249  -5  

 

The principal assumptions used in determining post-employment benefit obligations for the 
Company’s plan are shown below: 

 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
    
Discount rate 2.81%  3.85% 

Future salary increases 5.00%  5.00% 
 

As per the reporting date, the defined benefit obligation is not covered by any plan assets. 
For 2015, a contribution to plan assets is not scheduled, further projections are not made 
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by management in this respect. The Group will start to make contributions in line with the 
development of the operating business.  

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period 
is 9.22 years. 

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at 31 December 2014 is as 
follows: 

Significant 
assumptions Sensitivity level 1 % increase 1 % decrease 
    EUR k EUR k 
    
Discount rate Impact on the 

defined benefit 
obligation 

-19 23 
   

Future salary 
increases 23 -19 

 

Sensitivities are calculated based on the same method (present value of the defined benefit 
obligation calculated with the projected unit method) as applied when calculating the post-
employment benefit obligation. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change of one 
assumption holding all the other assumptions constant. This is unlikely to occur in practice 
and changes of more than one assumption may be correlated leading to different impacts 
on the defined benefit obligation than disclosed above. If the assumptions change at a 
different level, the effect on the defined benefit obligation is not necessarily in a linear 
relation. 

 



 

68 
 
 

28. Long-term borrowings 
 

Borrowings as of 31 December 2014 consist of the following: 

Creditor 

Annual interest  
rate as of  

31 Dec 2014 

31 Dec 
2014  

EUR k 

31 Dec 
2013  

EUR k Maturity date 
     
SYSK Ltd. 7% 1,777 1,669 31 January 2016 
     
Lars Windhorst 12M EURIBOR+3% 533 515 29 February 2016 
Lars Windhorst 12M EURIBOR+3% 212 205 28 April 2016 
Lars Windhorst 12M EURIBOR+3% 254 245 1 May 2016 
Lars Windhorst 12M EURIBOR+3% 93 90 26 May 2016 
     
Industrial Bank of Korea 4.485% 0 207  

  2,869 2,931  
 
The loan from SYSK Ltd. was subject to subordination in such a way that the claims of the 
lender rank junior to all creditors of the borrower as well as behind all common junior 
creditors whose claims can be repaid out of future profits, net liquidition proceeds or other 
freely available assets.  

In 2014, the Group repaid EUR k 2,146 of long-term borrowings, of which EUR k 1,939 
were assumed borrowings through the acquisition of Fyber. The remaining amount of EUR 
k 207 was repaid to the Industrial Bank of Korea as shown in the table above. Further, 
accrued interest of EUR k 145 were added. 

29. Other payables 
 

The other payables break down as follows: 

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Accrued expenses 627 303 
Others 71 1,903 
 698 2,206 
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30. Short-term borrowings 
 

Borrowings as of 31 December 2014 consist of the following: 

Creditor 

Annual interest 
rate as of  

31 Dec 2014 

31 Dec 
2014  

EUR k 

31 Dec 
2013  

EUR k Maturity date 
     
Sapinda Asia Ltd. 12M EURIBOR+3% 2,406 0 31 July 2015 
     
Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 8.000% 1,015 0 31 March 2015 
     
Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) WSJ Prime + 2.5% 3,304 0 18 December 2015 
     
Investitionsbank Berlin (IBB) 3.950% 730 0 31 December 2015 
     
Industrial Bank of Korea 6.730% 226 0 26 May 2015 
Industrial Bank of Korea 3.260% 453 0 26 June 2015 
Industrial Bank of Korea 5.483% 23 0 27 June 2015 
Industrial Bank of Korea 3.850% 0 385  
     
Hyoung Hoon Han 6.000% 324 0 18 February 2015 
Hyoung Hoon Han 6.000% 129 0 30 March 2015 
Hyoung Hoon Han 6.000% 76 0 29 April 2015 
Hyoung Hoon Han 6.000% 226 0 22 June 2015 
  8,912 385  

 

The loan of Silicon Valley Bank is secured by intellectual property, shares, trade receivables 
and bank accounts, which can be utilised by the lender in case of failure of repayment by 
Fyber. 

Under this loan, Fyber is required to maintain at all times a minimum adjusted quick ratio of 
at least 1.75 to 1.00. Adjusted quick ratio in this respect is defined as the ratio of quick 
assets (unrestricted and unencumbered cash/cash equivalents, net billed accounts and 
investments with maturities of fewer than 12 months in accordance with German GAAP) to 
current liabilities (total liabilities of borrower to SVB, plus, without duplication, the aggregate 
amount of total liabilities that, under German GAAP, be classified as liabilities in Fyber's 
consolidated balance sheet that mature within one year) minus deferred revenue (amounts 
received or invoiced in advance of performance under contracts). 

In 2014, the Group received short-term borrowings amounting to EUR k 5,286 and assumed 
further short-term borrowings of EUR k 3,575 through the acquisition of Fyber. In return, 
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loans amounting to EUR k 385 were repaid. Further, a discount was recognised on the loan 
from Sapinda Asia Ltd. in 2014 amounting to EUR k 133 as well as accrued interest 
including amortisation of the discount of EUR k 185. 

31. Other current liabilities 
 

The other current liabilities breaks down as follows: 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Obligation from Fyber SAR 9,081 0 
Debtor with credit balances 505 0 
Tax payables 217 0 
Advances received 71 115 
Others 484 17 
  10,358 132 

 

The obligation from Fyber SAR relates to payments to employees of Fyber in respect to the 
share appreciation right assumed by RNTS through the acquisition of Fyber that are 
expected to become due within the 12 month period following the balance sheet date. Any 
other obligation in connection with the SAR is carried in 'Employee benefit liability'. 
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32. Provisions 
 

 1 Jan 2014 Increase Utilisation Reversal 31 Dec 2014 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
      
VAT provision 525 0 0 -525 0 
Contingent 
consideration 18 0 -18 0 0 
Provisions for 
outstanding vouchers 0 207 0 0 207 
Site restoration 0 68 0 0 68 
Employee benefits 
(short-term) 0 940 0 0 940 
Others  0 593 0 0 593 
      
 543 1,808 -18 -525 1,808 

 

Provisions for outstanding vouchers represent the probable amount to be paid for vouchers 
for  app  users  to  incentivise  them  to  use  AMUG’s  AppBounty. 

The provision for site restoration of EUR k 68 was made during 2014 due to a new leasehold 
agreement where Fyber is obliged to restore the condition when leaving the building. Due 
to immateriality no discounting effect has been considered. 

Provisions for short-term employee benefits include bonus payments in the amount of EUR 
k 628 and retention bonus for the Management Board and selected key staff of the Group 
in the amount of EUR k 312. 

Other provisions include provisions for year end closing and audit as well as a number of 
further facts and circumstances that are individually not significant. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

33. Cash flow 
 

The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method for presentation of 
operating activities. 

As described in Note '4. Acquisitions in 2014' in detail, the Group acquired 100% of the 
shares in Fyber GmbH effective 21 October 2014. 

The impacts of cash flows are as follows: 

 Fyber GmbH 
 EUR k  
  
Purchase price 150,000 
Transfers of shares -138,000 
 12,000 
  
Payment of cash part of the purchase price -12,000 
Cash flows due to purchase price payment -12,000 
  
Cash and cash equivalents contributed from 
subsidiary 3,766 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to 
changes in companies included in 
consolidation -8,234 

 

The short term desposit of EUR k 9,000 which are held in an account by Shard Capital 
Partners is carried in other current financial assets as. Despite the fact that is is readily 
available at short notice, it does not meet the requirements to be classified as cash and 
cash equivalents. Therefore the deposit is included in the cash flow from investing activities 
in the position 'Change in investments and financial assets'. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

34. Operating segments 
 

For management purposes, the Group had seven reportable operating segments (Games, 
Appstore, Global Sales, Big Star Global, Application Development, LTE and operations) 
until the end of the year 2013. Through the reorganisation of the Group and its investment 
in Fyber GmbH the management changed the reportable segments for 2014 to three 
operating segments (Admonetisation, Edutainment and Others). 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm's length basis in a manner 
similar to transactions with third parties. The financial performance and financial position of 
each segment for the year ended 31 December 2014 are as follows: 

 
Revenues Net  

profit 
Total 

assets 
Total 

liabilities 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Admonetisation 15,079 1,635 209,928 61,920 
Edutainment 3,011 -9,375 14,432 5,396 
Others 330 -15,815 403 12,729 
Subtotal 18,420 -23,555 224,763 80,045 
     
Eliminations -224 6,738 -187 -27,485 
     
Total 18,196 -16,817 224,576 52,560 
     
Thereof from discontinued 
operations 

-289 7,396 -391 -726 

 
Total from continued 
operations 17,907 -9,421 224,185 51,834 
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Segment Types of products and services 
  
Admonetisation Providing a supply-side platform serving app developers and 

publishers of content for mobile and online devices to 
monetise their advertising inventory 
 

Edutainment Rendering of services in connection with digital content and 
sales of digital media as well as distribution of related 
hardware 

Others Other services not included in previous activities incl. 
corporate services 

 

Due to the development of the divisions Appstore and Games, which contain in the segment 
'Others', the management decided to shut down these both business divisions.  

Reconciliation from the amounts in the statement of financial position to the total amounts 
of all reportable segments was not prepared since the information of the reportable 
segments completely match with the amounts shown in the financial the financial 
statements. 

The reconciliation of the amounts and operating segments as per 31 December 2013 to the 
new operating segments consists as follows: 

Segments Amounts Segments    
as per 31 Dec 

2014 
as per 31 Dec 2013  as per 31 Dec 

2013   

 
Revenues Net 

profit 
Total 

assets 
Total 

liabilities   
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k   
       
Admonetisation 0 0 0 0 new  
Edutainment 780 166 12,934 2,863 Big Star Global  
Others 1,957 -10,372 11,865 13,550 Games, Appstore, Global 

Sales, Application 
Development, LTE & 
Operations 

           
Subtotal 2,737 -10,206 24,799 16,413   
       
Eliminations 0 3,476 -5,291 -9,099   
           
Total 2,737 -6,730 19,508 7,314   
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35. Geographic information 
 

    31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
    EUR k EUR k 
Revenues from external customers    
Germany    14,925 523 
South Korea     2,982 2,214 

Total revenue per consolidated income statement 17,907 2,737 
      
The revenue is allocated based on the country where the subsidiaries are located. 

    31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
    EUR k EUR k 
Non-current assets     
 Germany     148,541 797 
 South Korea    11,862 15,866 

Total    160,403 16,663 
 

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of goodwill, intangible assets, property and 
equipment. 

36. Major  customer’s  information 
 
The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions and performs ongoing 
credit  evaluation  of  its  customers’  financial  conditions. 

The Group provides consulting services only for creditworthy clients and the receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.  

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has no major customers who represent 
10%  or  more  of  the  Group’s  total  revenue. 
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37. Capital management 
 

Capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the parent. The Group has the 
following net debts: 

Net debt analysis 
   

31 Dec 2014  
EUR k 

31 Dec 2013  
EUR k 

      
Long-term borrowings    2,869 2,931 
Short-term borrowings   8,912 385 
Cash and cash equivalents  -12,078 -763 
    -297 2,553 
Current financial asset (highly liquid)  -9,000 0 
Net debt    -9,297 2,553 

 
The current financial asset is the deposit account that is held at Shard Capital Partners LLP 
which is readily available at short notice but does not qualify as cash and cash equivalents. 

The  primary  objective  of  the  Group’s  capital  management  is  to ensure that it maintains an 
appropriate capital structure to support its current business and future growth and therefore 
maximise  shareholder’s  value. 

38. Financial assets and liabilities 
 

As of 31 December 2014 the Group held a short term loan financial instruments that is 
carried at fair value in the statements of financial position. Except for this The amortised 
costs of the loans and receivables generally approximate fair values except for borrowings 
that have a fixed interest rate. The fair value of fixed interest long-term borrowings were 
determined using Level 3 techniques by discounting the expected cash flows with a pre-tax 
cost of debt of 8%. The financial liability at fair value through profit or loss was evaluated 
using Level 3 techniques and related to a guaranty granted to the seller of Big Star Global. 
This guaranty ceased in 2014 without any claims against RNTS Media. 
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38.1. Presentation by categories 

The balance sheet items comprising financial assets and liabilities can be attributed to 
the measurement categories according to IAS 39 as follows: 

  31 Dec 2014 

  
Carrying 
amount 

Loans and 
receivables Fair value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Assets    
Security deposits  193 193 193 
Other non-current financial assets 12,556 12,556 12,556 
Trade and other receivables 16,444 16,444 16,444 
Other current financial assets  18,209 18,209 18,209 
Cash and cash equivalents  12,078 12,078 12,078 
  59,480 59,480 59,480 

     
  31 Dec 2013 

  
Carrying 
amount 

Loans and 
receivables Fair value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Assets    
Security deposits  189 189 189 
Trade and other receivables 1,360 1,360 1,360 
Other current financial assets  70 70 70 
Cash and cash equivalents  763 763 763 
  2,382 2,382 2,382 
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  31 Dec 2014 

  
Carrying 
amount 

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial 
liability at 
fair value 

through 
profit or loss Fair value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k  EUR k 
      
Liabilities     
Long-term borrowings 2,869 2,869 0 2,729 
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 
Trade and other payables 12,231 12,231 0 12,231 
Short-term borrowings 8,912 8,912 0 8,912 
Other current liabilities 10,358 10,358 0 10,358 
  34,370 34,370 0 34,230 

      
  31 Dec 2013 

  
Carrying 
amount 

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial 
liability at 
fair value 

through 
profit or loss Fair value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k  EUR k 
      
Liabilities     
Long-term borrowings 2,931 2,931 0 2,758 
Other non-current liabilities 4 4 0 4 
Trade and other payables 2,604 2,604 0 2,604 
Short-term borrowings 385 385 0 385 
Other current liabilities 132 132 0 132 
Contingent consideration 18 0 18 18 
  6,074 6,056 18 5,901 



 

79 
 
 

The financial liability at fair value through profit or loss refers to a guaranty granted to the 
seller of Big Star Global Co., Ltd.The fair value of this guaranty was determined by applying 
the Black Scholes model to evaluate a put option with characteristics similar to those 
included in the guaranty. The input data in the valuation is as follows: 

  31 Dec 2013 1 Dec 2013 
    
Market price of RNTS shares in EUR per share 3.12 2.85 
Number of periods to exercise in years 0.13 0.21 
Compounded risk free interest rate in % 5.1 5.1 
Standard deviation in % 22.84 22.84 
Fair value of guaranty in EUR k 18 70 

 

39. Financial risk management 
 

The Group is exposed to various financial risks which arise out of its business activities. 
Main risks identified include financial market risks such as currency and interest rate risks, 
as well as liquidity risks and credit risks. The Group manages these risks in accordance to 
its risk strategy to mitigate any negative effects on the financial performance and to secure 
the financial position of RNTS Media. 

39.1. Financial market risks 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates. 

39.1.1. Foreign currency risk 
 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The   Group’s  
functional and reporting currency is Euro. The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks in 
several ways, particularly with respect to transactions in foreign currencies and foreign 
exchange translation effects, arising mainly from the relative value of the Euro compared 
to the value of the US dollars (USD) and the Korean Won (KRW). Due to the international 
nature   of   the   Group’s   business,   the   Group   currently   has   foreign   sales   and   accounts  
receivable denominated in currencies other than the Euro. In addition, the Group purchases 
advertising in local currencies and incurs a portion of its operating expenses other 
currencies than Euro The Group faces exposure to adverse movements in currency 
exchange rates, which may cause its revenue and operating results to differ materially from 
expectations.  The  Group’s  operating  results  could  be  negatively impacted depending on 
the amount of revenue or operating expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies. 
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As exchange rates vary, revenue, operating expenses and other operating results, when 
translated, may differ materially from expectations. In addition,  the  Group’s  revenue  and  
operating results are subject to fluctuation if the mix of US and foreign currency 
denominated transactions or expenses changes in the future because the Group does not 
currently hedge its foreign currency exposure. Thereof, a currency hedging will be 
considered in the future by the Group. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the 
exchange rate of KRW, with all other variables held constant. 

   
Change in 
KRW rate 

Maximum / 
minimum 

level 
Effect on loss 

before tax 
Effect on 

equity 
     EUR k EUR k 
       
2014  + 5.00% 1,391.04 -20 -763 
  - 5.00% 1,258.56 -436 843 
       
2013  + 5.00% 1,523.48 85 -798 
  - 5.00% 1,378.38 -91 882 

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the 
exchange rate of USD, with all other variables held constant. 

      
Change in 
USD rate 

Maximum / 
minimum 

level 
Effect on loss 

before tax 
Effect on 

equity 
          EUR k EUR k 
              
2014   + 5.00% 1.28 -401 0 
    - 5.00% 1.16 401 0 
              
2013   + 5.00% 1.45 0 0 
    - 5.00% 1.31 0 0 

 

39.1.2. Interest rate risk 
 

Interest risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash 
flows or the fair value of financial instruments. The exposure of the Group to interest rate 
risks is minimal. Therefore interest rate changes in the future will affect marginally cash 
flows in this respect. As the Company does not have financial instruments measured at fair 
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value, changes in the interest rate will have no impact on equity. Please refer to note 
'28. Long-term borrowings' for further details on the loans. 

  
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Long-term borrowings    
 -fixed interest rate  1,777 1,876 
 -floating interest rate  1,092 1,055 
  2,869 2,931 
    
Short-term borrowings    
 -fixed interest rate  3,202 385 
 -floating interest rate  5,710 0 
  8,912 385 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates on floating rate borrowings: 

2014  2013 
Increase / 

Decrease in basis 
points 

Effect on loss 
before tax 

 

Increase / 
Decrease in basis 

points 

Effect on loss 
before tax 

  EUR k    EUR k 
     

+5 1  +28 -11 
-5 -1  -28 11 

 

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on 
the maximum changes at the discount rate according to the Deutsche Bundesbank during 
the fiscal year 2014. 
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39.2. Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 
instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The carrying amount of trade 
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and receivables from related parties 
represent  the  Group’s  maximum  exposure  to  credit  risk.  No  other  financial  asset carries a 
significant exposure to credit risk. 

The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions and performs ongoing 
credit  evaluation  of  its  customers’  financial  conditions. 

The Group provides consulting services only for creditworthy clients and the receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group has no significant exposure to any 
customer nor does it have any major concentration of credit risk. 

Aging analysis of non-derivative financial instruments as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 is 
as follows: 

 

 2014 
 

Total 
Neither 

past due 
nor 

impaired 

past due but not impaired 

 

Within 
30 days 

30 - 60 
days 

60- 90 
days 

90 - 
120 

days 

Over 
120 

days 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR 
k 

EUR 
k 

EUR 
k 

        
Security deposits 193 193 0 0 0 0 0 
Other non-current financial 
assets 12,556 12,556 0 0 0 0 0 
Trade and other 
receivables 16,444 6,789 5,091 2,069 786 421 1,288 
Other current financial 
assets 18,209 18,209 0 0 0 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 12,078 12,078 0 0 0 0 0 

               
Total 59,480 49,825 5,091 2,069 786 421 1,288 
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 2013 

 

Total 
Neither 

past due 
nor 

impaired 

Within 
30 

days 

30 - 
60 

days 

60- 
90 

days 

90 - 
120 

days 

Over 
120 

days 

 
EUR 

k 
EUR  

k 
EUR 

k 
EUR 

k 
EUR 

k 
EUR 

k 
EUR 

k 
        
Security deposits 189 189 0 0 0 0 0 
Trade and other receivables 1,360 1,337 6 6 4 0 7 
Other current financial 
assets 70 70 0 0 0 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 763 763 0 0 0 0 0 
               
Total 2,382 2,359 6 6 4 0 7 

 

39.3. Liquidity risks 
 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The Group establishes short and long-term capital management 
plans and analyses and reviews cash flow budgets with actual cash outflows in order to 
match the maturity of financial liabilities and financial assets. In order to secure and maintain 
the liquidity of the Group, RNTS Media N.V. will issue a convertible bond of up to EUR 150 
million. Please refer to note '42. Events after the balance sheet date'. 

The aggregate maturities of undiscounted financial liabilities outstanding as of 31 
December 2014 and 2013 are as follows: 

 2014 

 
Total Within 1 

years 
1 years to 

5 year 
Over 5 
years 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

     
Long-term borrowings 3,031 144 2,887 0 
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 
Trade and other payables 12,231 12,231 0 0 
Short-term borrowings 9,310 9,310 0 0 
Other current liabilities 10,358 10,358 0 0 
Provisions 1,808 1,808 0 0 
         
Total 36,738 33,851 2,887 0 
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 2013 

 

Total Within 1 
years 

1 years to 
5 year 

Over 5 
years 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

     
Long-term borrowings 3,283 153 3,130 0 
Other non-current liabilities 4 0 4 0 
Trade and other payables 2,604 2,300 304 0 
Short-term borrowings 400 400 0 0 
Other current liabilities 132 132 0 0 
Provisions 543 543 0 0 
         
Total 6,966 3,528 3,438 0 

 

For a breakdown of Other current liablities please refer to note '31. Other current liabilities' 
for further details. 

40. Relationships with related parties 
 

The following table provides the balances with related parties as at 31 Dec 2014 as well as 
the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties during 
2014. 

 2014 

 

Amounts owed 
by related 

parties 

Amounts owed 
to related 

parties 
Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Key management personnel 0 0 0 4,390 
     
Shareholder     
 - Sapinda Asia Ltd. 0 2,424 0 170 
 - SYSK Ltd. 0 1,777 0 109 
 - Lars Windhorst 0 1,091 0 36 
 - Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 0 1,015 0 15 
 - Adetra 0 1 0 148 
 0 6,308 0 4,868 
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The following table provides the balances with related parties as at 31 Dec 2013 as well as 
the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties during 
2013. 

 2013 

 

Amounts owed 
by related 

parties 

Amounts owed 
to related 

parties 
Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Key management personnel 7 0 0 384 
     
Shareholder     
 - SYSK Ltd. 0 1,669 0 108 
 - Lars Windhorst 0 1,055 0 27 
 7 2,724 0 519 

 
The purchases from key management personnel consists entirely of compensation of key 
management personnel of EUR k 4,330 (2013: EUR k 383) including the remuneration for 
business consultancy services from the Supervisory Board members Ryan Kavanaugh 
(service provided through Knight Global Services) and Dirk Van Daele amounting to 
EUR k 3,021. Further purchases of EUR k 60 (2013: EUR k 1) relate to rent expense for 
the office in Seoul rent from Mr Hyunghoon Han. Please refer to note '8. Other operating 
expenses' for further details.  

The shareholders Sapinda Asia Ltd., SYSK Ltd., Lars Windhorst and Sapinda Invest -S.à r.l 
have provided shareholder loans to the Company and its subsidiaries with the outstanding 
balance shown as payables and the purchases being the interest accrued in the respective 
year.  

Outstanding balances with Anoa Capital S.A. are as follows. The disclosure is made as 
Mr. Dirk Van Daele is CEO and controlling shareholder of Anoa Capital S.A. as well as 
Chairman of the supervisory board of RNTS Media N.V. 

   Anoa Capital S.A. 

 
Amounts owed 

by parties 
Amounts owed 

to parties 
Sales to 
parties 

Purchases from 
parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
2014 0 832 0 3,500 
2013 0 35 0 329 

 
In 2014, Anoa Capital S.A. advised on the acquisition of Fyber and the related capital 
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increase. Anoa received for the services in connection with the Fyber acquisition a success 
fee of EUR k 2,250 and for the capital increase additonal EUR k 870, of which the latter 
was not expensed but directly deducted from equity (note '26.2. Issued capital and share 
premium'). Further, Anoa provided a variety of other consulting services throughout the year 
for an amount of EUR k 350. 

Compensation for key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 
2013 are as follows: 

  31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Share-based payments  3,192 0 
Short-term employee benefits  890 341 
Defined contribution plan  2 0 
Termination benefits  246 42 
Total  4,330 383 

 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the 
reporting period related to key management personnel. 

Key management personnel, including all executive directors, that have the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling of the activities of the entities, directly 
or indirectly. 

The compensation for key management personnel includes compensation for members of 
the management board and supervisory board of the parent as follows: 

  
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
    
Management Board Member    
Andreas Bodczek 1), 2), 5) short-term employee benefits 151 0 
Roger van Diepen 5) short-term employee benefits 238 163 
Hyunghoon Han 1), 5) short-term employee benefits 93 0 
Janis Zech 1), 2), 5) short-term employee benefits 126 0 
Jai Paik 3) short-term employee benefits 83 7 
Hee jun Park 4) short-term employee benefits 0 55 
 termination benefits 0 5 
  691 230 
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Supervisory Board Member    
Ryan Kavanaugh share-based payments 1,826 0 
Dirk Van Daele share-based payments 1,195 0 
  3,021 0 
    
Total  3,712 230 
    
1) Compensation was paid by subsidiaries of the Company   
2) Member of the Management Board since 21 October 2014   
3) Member of the Management Board until 30 June 2014   
4) Member of the Management Board until 8 November 2013   
5) Statutory director of the Company   

 

41. Other financial commitments 
 

41.1. Operating lease 

Lease payments for 2014 in an amount of EUR k 564 (2013: EUR k 330) were recognised 
included in other operating expense. 

Future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Due within one year  1,443 142 
Due in one to five years 430 71 
Total 1,873 213 

 

42. Events after the balance sheet date 
 

To provide the Company with sufficient funds and flexibility to pursue its growth agenda and 
acquisitions, RNTS Media N.V. has announced its intention to issue a convertible bond of up 
to EUR 150 million. This has been approved by the Management Board, Supervisory Board 
and the shareholders at the general meeting of shareholders on April 1, 2015. The convertible 
bond has not been issued yet. 

A  Stock  Option  Plan  (“SOP”)  for  the  senior  management  and  employees  of  the  Company  with  
the objective to attract and retain talent and provide strong incentives to drive growth and 
value creation has been approved by the Management Board, Supervisory Board and the 
shareholders on 1 April 2015. Further it was approved to designate the Supervisory Board as 
the competent body to grant members of the Management Board rights to subscribe for shares 
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pursuant to the Stock Option Plan and to restrict or exclude pre-emptive rights with respect to 
the granting of rights to subscribe for shares. The total number of shares however, in respect 
of which options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan shall not exceed 15% of the 
Company's issued and outstanding share capital on a fully diluted basis at the time of the first 
issuance of the shares. 

As of 22 April 2015, RNTS announced that it has agreed to acquire 100% of the share capital 
of  Falk  Realtime  Ltd.  (“Falk”),  a  fast  growing  mobile  advertising  technology  company  based  in  
Germany, for a total consideration of EUR 10.65 million in cash and shares. 
  
Falk is a supply side ad tech platform, which comprises a programmatic ad exchange and ad 
server technology and targets large owned and operated publishers. The platform includes a 
wide variety of functionalities like real time bidding (RTB), private marketplaces, programmatic 
direct campaigns as well as selling campaigns via a self-serviced ad server. 
  
The consideration will be satisfied by a EUR 5.9 million cash payment and ca.1.36 million 
RNTS shares, worth EUR 4.75 million at a share price of EUR 3.50. These will be existing 
shares, which will be made available by its shareholder Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 
  
To finance the share component of the Falk acquisition, the Company has entered into a 
subordinated cash loan with its shareholder Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. of EUR 4.75 million. The 
facility has a maturity of 30 June 2016 but contains a mandatory repayment clause once the 
Company has issued the convertible bond. The facility bears interest of 8% p.a. The full 
amount has been drawn down. 
  
Sapinda Asia has granted the Sellers a put option whereby it has agreed to purchase the 
shares issued as consideration from 12 months after completion onwards (and from 24 months 
onwards for certain shares) for a period of 12 months for 3.50 per share. 
  
The Falk acquisition was completed on 12 May 2015, which is also the date from which Falk 
will be fully consolidated. 

At the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements, the purchase price allocation 
on the Falk acquisition is still in process. 

On 4 May 2015, the Company has entered into a subordinated revolving credit facility with its 
shareholder Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. of EUR 35 million to provide it with sufficient funds to 
ensure going concern. The facility has a maturity of 31 March 2017 but can be cancelled prior 
to maturity at the discretion of the Company. 

In addition, there is a mandatory repayment clause when the Company has issued the 
convertible bond. The facility bears interest at the higher of 8% p.a. and Euribor +5% margin. 
As of 17 June 2015, EUR 15 million had been drawn down. 



COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RNTS MEDIA N.V. 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 

COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 
 

0 
 

 

Notes 

1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 1 Jan  – 

EUR k 
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2014  
 31 Dec 

2013 
 31 Dec 

2013 
 31 Dec 

2013 
  Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
  results disclosed results 2)  results disclosed results 2) 
   Items 1)    Items 1)  
         
Revenue 5 181 0 181  0 0 0 
Revenue share to third parties  0 0 0  0 0 0 
Gross Margin  181 0 181  0 0 0 
         
Other operating income 6 42 543 585  0 53 53 
Personel costs  -213 0 -213  -114 0 -114 
Other operating expenses 7 -1,568 -6,185 -7,753  -859 -686 -1,545 
EBITDA  -1,558 -5,642 -7,200  -973 -633 -1,606 
         
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  -2 -12,027 -12,029  0 -3,717 -3,717 
EBIT  -1,560 -17,669 -19,229  -973 -4,350 -5,323 
         
Finance income 8 978 0 978  439 0 439 
Finance expenses 9 -312 0 -312  -235 0 -235 
Loss for the year before tax -894 -17,669 -18,563  -769 -4,350 -5,119 
         
Income tax expense  0 0 0  0 0 0 
         
Loss for the year from continuing 
operations after tax  -894 -17,669 -18,563  -769 -4,350 -5,119 
         
Earnings per share         
         
Basic loss per share (EUR)  -0.01 -0.26 -0.27  -0.01 -0.09 -0.10 
Diluted loss per share (EUR)  -0.01 -0.25 -0.26  -0.01 -0.09 -0.10 
         
Other comprehensive income for the 
year, net of tax  0 0 0  0 0 0 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -894 -17,669 -18,563  -769 -4,350 -5,119 
 
 
1)  Refer  to  note  ’10.  Separately  disclosed  items’  for  additional  information. 
2) This column represents IFRS figures. 
 

 



COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 

0 
 

EUR k Notes 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
        
Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 11 23  0 
Non-current financial assets     
 Shares in subsidiaries 12 163,106  13,720 
 Loans to affiliated companies 13 18,424  5,693 
   181,553  19,413 
Current assets     
Trade receivables 14 164  0 
Other current assets 15 250  31 
Cash and cash equivalents 16 52  54 
   466  85 
        
Total Assets  182,019  19,498 
      
Equity 17    
Issued capital  11,453  5,653 
Share premium  184,782  17,757 
Other capital reserves  3,021  0 
Accumulated deficit  -25,694  -7,131 
Equity attributable to shareholders 
of the company  173,562  16,279 
Total equity  173,562  16,279 
      
Non-current liabilities     
Long-term borrowings 18 2,310  2,184 
   2,310  2,184 
Current liabilities     
Trade payables  2,388  259 
Other payables 19 338  233 
Short-term borrowings 20 3,421  0 
Provisions 22 0  543 
   6,147  1,035 
      
Total liabilities  8,457  3,219 
        
Total equity and liabilities  182,019  19,498 



COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 

 

0 
 

  Equity attributable to owners of the parent  

EUR k  
Issued 
capital 

Share 
Premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 
Accumulated 

deficit 
Total 
equity 

       
1 Jan 2014 5,653 17,757 0 -7,131 16,279 
           

Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 -18,563 -18,563 
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 
Total comprehensive income 5,653 17,757 0 -25,694 -2,284 

       
Share-based payments 0 0 3,021 0 3,021 
Issue of share capital 5,800 168,200 0 0 174,000 
Transaction costs 0 -1,308 0 0 -1,308 
Discount of low-interest 
shareholder loans 0 133 0 0 133 

As at 31 Dec 2014 11,453 184,782 3,021 -25,694 173,562 
       
       
1 Jan 2013 5,000 0 0 -1,964 3,036 
           

Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 -5,120 -5,120 
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 
       
Total comprehensive income 5,000 0 0 -7,084 -2,084 

       
       

Issue of share capital 653 17,757 0 0 18,410 
Transaction costs 0 0 0 -47 -47 

       
As at 31 Dec 2013 5,653 17,757 0 -7,131 16,279 



COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 

 

0 
 

   1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 

EUR k Note 
31 Dec 

2014  
 31 Dec 

2013 
      
Loss for the year before tax   -18,563  -5,119 
      
 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  12,029  3,717 
 Financial income and expenses 8/9 -666  -211 
 Other non-cash effects  3,021  0 
 Changes in provisions, employee benefit obligations  -543  543 
 Changes in working capital  1,850  216 
Cash generated from operations  -2,872  -854 
 Interest received and paid  0  -126 
Net cash flow from operating activities  -2,872  -980 
      
 Purchases, capitalisation of intangible assets 11 -25  0 
 Acquisition of a subsidiary  -12,000  -3,000 
 Change in investments and financial assets, net  -23,166  -4,430 
Net cash flow from investing activities   -35,191  -7,430 
      
 Proceeds from the issue of shares  36,000  10,242 
 Transaction costs on the issue of shares  -1,308  0 
 Proceeds from long-term borrowings  0  -1,824 
 Proceeds from short-term borrowings 20 3,369  0 
Net cash flow from financing activities   38,061  8,418 
      
 Net changes in cash  -2  8 
      
 Cash at beginning of period  54  46 
 Net foreign exchange difference  0  0 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 16 52  54 



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Corporate information 

RNTS Media N.V. invests in mobile and online businesses with significant growth potential. 
Its principal activities are currently mobile advertising through its subsidiary Fyber and 
digital content through its subsidiary Big Star Global.  

RNTS Media is incorporated in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, and is registered with the 
Dutch  Chamber  of  Commerce  under  the  number  54747805.  The  Company’s  head-office is 
at Johannisstrasse 20, 10117 Berlin, Germany.  

The company financial statements of RNTS Media N.V. as at 31 December 2014 were 
authorised for issue along with the consolidated financial statements of RNTS Media N.V. 
as at 31 December 2014. 

Please refer to note '1. Corporate information' of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details. 

2. Basis of preparation 
 
The company financial statements are separate financial statements according to IAS 27.17 
and the financial reporting requirements included in part 9 of book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) at the 
balance sheet date. 

The company income statement is presented closely aligned to the nature of expense 
method. Management decided to change the form of the presentation from the function of 
expenses method used in prior years. Please refer to note '2.1 Basis of preparation' of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Acquisitions in 2014 
 
In 2014, RNTS  Media  N.V.  acquired  100%  of  the  shares  in  Fyber  GmbH  (‘Fyber’,  formerly  
named:  ‘SponsorPay  GmbH’),  an advertising technology company based in Berlin and San 
Francisco for EUR 150 million in cash and shares. 

Please refer to note '4. Acquisitions in 2014' of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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4. Significant accounting and valuation methods 
 
The significant accounting and valuation principles for the company financial statements 
were applied uniformly as for the RNTS Group. 

Please refer to note '2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies' of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Further to the accounting policies described in the consolidated financial statements, 
accounting policies we applied specific to company financial statements. In this respect, 
investments in affiliated companies were accounted for at cost. If any indication exists, that 
such an investment may be impaired, a respective impairment test is performed. 

In the course of these impairment tests, management is required to make further estimates 
and assumptions. These assumptions are basically the same as for the valuation of the 
cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill on group level with 
a reconciliation of the cash generating units to the respective subsidiaries. Please refer to 
note  '15.2  Big  Star  Global  Co.,  Ltd’  and  ’15.3  Fyber  GmbH’  of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements estimates and key assumptions for further information. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

5. Revenue 

During the reporting period the Company generated revenue in the amount of EUR k 181 
from intra-group charges for management costs consisting of management consultancy 
fees and management travel expenses. 

6. Other operating income 

Other operating income breaks down as follows: 

  
 1 Jan to   1 Jan to  
 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 

  EUR k  EUR k 
     
Income from reversal of provisions  557  53 
Bad debt allowances  25  0 
Refunds   3  0 
  585  53 

 

7. Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses break down as follows  

 1 Jan to   1 Jan to  
 31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Legal and consulting costs 4,021  651 
Business consultancy services 3,021  0 
Audit and accounting 521  254 
Bank charges 70  2 
Bad debt expenses 65  29 
External service 35  0 
Service fees 5  75 
Non-deductible VAT 0  524 
Miscellaneous (single value < EUR k 10) 15  10 
 7,753  1,545 
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8. Finance income 

 
1 Jan to   1 Jan to  

31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Interest accrued RNTS Media Co, Ltd. 371  265 
Interest accrued RNTS Media GmbH 297  174 
Interest accrued Fyber 297  0 
Interest accrued BSG 13  0 
 978  439 

 
9. Finance expenses 

 
1 Jan to   1 Jan to  

31 Dec 2014  31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k  EUR k 
    
Interest accrued Sapinda Asia Ltd. 170  0 
Interest accrued Sysk 109  108 
Interest accrued Windhorst 18  15 
Interest accrued Sapinda S.à r.l. 15  0 
Interest accrued Cecina 0  103 
Interest accrued Anoa Capital 0  9 
 312  235 
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10. Separately disclosed items 
 

Please refer to note '2.3.3. Accounting for separately disclosed items' of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies with respect to the recognition 
of separately disclosed items. 

Separately disclosed items break down as follows: 

  1 Jan  –  1 Jan  – 

  
31 Dec 

2014  
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k  EUR k 
     
Non-cash accounting charges for stock options, 
warrants etc. -3,021  0 
     
Impairment of goodwill, amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets -12,027  -3,717 
     
Transaction costs related to acquisitions -3,119  -106 
     
Other non-recurring income and costs 498  -527 
     
  -17,669  -4,350 

 
Non-cash stock option charges, warrants relate to the business consulting agreements with 
Dirk Van Daele and Knight Global Services entered into in 2014. Please refer to note '8. 
Other operating expenses' of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further 
details. 

Impairment of goodwill relates to the impairment loss of shares and loans to RNTS Media 
Deutschland GmbH and RNTS Media Co., Ltd. In 2014, the Company has impaired the 
shares of its subsidiary RNTS Media Co., Ltd. amounting to EUR k 4,000 (2013: EUR k 25 
of RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH). Further, loans to RNTS Media Co., Ltd. of EUR k 
7,005 and to RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH of EUR k 1,022 were fully impaired (2013: 
EUR k 3,692 loans to RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH). Please refer to note '12. Shares 
in subsidiaries' and '13. Loans to affiliated companies' for further details. 

Transaction costs relate to the acquisitions of Fyber in 2014 and Big Star Global in 2013 
and consist mainly of due diligence, legal advice and other consultancy services. 

Other non-recurring income and expenses mainly consists of an allowance of EUR k 525 
for VAT risks of the Company recognised in 2013 and reversed in 2014. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

11. Intangible assets 

During the reporting period the Company purchased services amounting to EUR k 25 for a 
complete re-launch of its website which cost is amortised over 3 years. As at 31 December 
2014, the carrying amount is EUR k 23. 

12. Shares in subsidiaries 

  2014 

 

RNTS Media 
Deutschland 

GmbH 

RNTS 
Media Co., 

Ltd. 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. 
Fyber 
GmbH Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
      
1 Jan 2014 0 4,000 9,720 0 13,720 
      
Acquisition 21 Oct 2014 0 0 0 153,386 153,386 
Impairment 0 -4,000 0 0 -4,000 
      

31 Dec 2014 0 0 9,720 153,386 163,106 
      
      
      
  2013  

 

RNTS Media 
Deutschland 

GmbH 

RNTS 
Media Co., 

Ltd. 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. Total  
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k  
      
1 Jan 2013 25 4,000 0 4,025  
      
Acquisition 1 Dec 2013 0 0 9,720 9,720  
Impairment -25 0 0 -25  
      
31 Dec 2013 0 4,000 9,720 13,720  

 

The business activities of RNTS Media Co., Ltd., which related mainly to mobile game 
publishing, was wound down in 2014. Consequently, the investment was fully impaired. 

As at the reporting date all subsidiaries are fully owned by the Company. 
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Please refer to note '3. Companies included in the consolidated financial statements' and 
note '4. Acquisitions in 2014' of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further 
details. 

13. Loans to affiliated companies 

   2014   

 

RNTS Media 
Deutschland 

GmbH 

RNTS 
Media Co., 

Ltd. 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. 
Fyber 
GmbH Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
      
1 Jan 2014 685 5,008 0 0 5,693 
      
Decrease -100 -100 0 0 -200 
Increase 140 1,726 1,500 20,000 23,366 
Low-interest 
component 0 0 0 -3,386 -3,386 
Impairment -1,022 -7,005 0 0 -8,027 
Amortisation of loan 0 0 0 218 218 
Interest accrued 297 371 13 79 760 
      
31 Dec 2014 0 0 1,513 16,911 18,424 
      
      
      
  2013  

 

RNTS Media 
Deutschland 

GmbH 

RNTS 
Media Co., 

Ltd. 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. Total  
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k  
      
1 Jan 2013 1,260 3,256 0 4,516  
      
Decrease -452 -238 0 -690  
Increase 3,395 1,725 0 5,120  
Impairment -3,692 0 0 -3,692  
Interest accrued 174 265 0 439  
      
31 Dec 2013 685 5,008 0 5,693  
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The interest rates of loans to affiliated companies are as follows: 

Interest rate 
 

RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH 7.00% 
RNTS Media Co., Ltd. 7.00% 
Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 8.00% 
Fyber GmbH 2.00% 

 

For the same reasons described in note '12. Shares in subsidiaries', the loans were tested 
for impairment. The loans to RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH and RNTS Media Co., Ltd. 
were fully impaired. 

14. Trade and other receivables 

The trade receivables consist in the amount of EUR k 164 of intra-group charges for 
management costs to its subsidiaries. 

15. Other current assets 

  
31 Dec 
2014 

31 Dec 
2013 

  EUR k EUR k 
    
VAT receivables  237 28 
Prepaid expenses  12 0 
Other receivables  1 3 
  250 31 

 

16. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash at banks that is freely available. 

17. Equity 

For a breakdown and a development of equity please refer to the Company statement of 
changes of equity. 

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2014 report a positive net equity 
position of EUR k 172,016. The Company financial statements as at 31 December 2014 
report a positive net equity of EUR k 173,562. 
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The following table shows the reconciliation of consolidated and company equity for the 
year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013: 

   2014 2013 
   EUR k EUR k 
Total consolidated 
equity   172,016 12,194 
 Individual subsidiaries (1) 2,374 4,075 

 
Other comprehensive 
income (2) -828 10 

Total company equity   173,562 16,279 
 

(1) RNTS  Media  N.V.’s  investments  in  its  subsidiaries  are  accounted  for  using  the  cost  
method. Under the cost method, the investments in the subsidiaries are carried in the 
Company financial statements at cost. Changes in the net asset value of the 
subsidiaries are not recognised in the company financial statement while they do fully 
affect the equity carried in the consolidated financial statements. 

(2) Other comprehensive income consists solely of the translation of the accounts of the 
subsidiaries RNTS Media Co., Ltd. and Big Star Global Co., Ltd. from Korean Won 
and actuarial gains disclosed in the Financial Statements of Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 
Please refer to note '26.4 Other components of equity' of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for further details. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of consolidated and company net income for 
the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013: 

  2014 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 

Total consolidated loss for the year -16,817 -6,730 
    
 Individual subsidiaries 4,993 5,107 
 Eliminations -6,739 -3,496 
    

Total Company only loss for the year -18,563 -5,119 
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18. Long-term borrowings 

Long-term borrowings as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 compile as following:  

Creditor 

Annual interest rate 
as of  

31 Dec 2014 

31 Dec 
2014  

EUR k 

31 Dec 
2013  

EUR k Maturity date 

SYSK Ltd. 7.00% 1,777 1,669 
 

31 January 2016 
     

Lars Windhorst 12 M EURIBOR+3% 533 515 29 February 2016 
  2,310 2,184  

 

In 2014, accrued interest of EUR k 126 were added on the long-term borrowings. 

19. Other payables 

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
Accrued expenses 327 220 
Others 11 13 
  338 233 

 

20. Short-term borrowings 

Creditor 

Annual interest rate 
as of  

31 Dec 2014 

31 Dec 
2014  

EUR k 

31 Dec 
2013  

EUR k Maturity date 
Sapinda Asia Ltd. 12M EURIBOR+3% 2,406 0 31 July 2015 
     

Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 8.00% 1,015 0 31 March 2015 

  3,421 0  
 

In 2014, the Company received short-term borrowings of EUR k 3,369. Further, a discount 
was recognised on the loan from Sapinda Asia Ltd. in 2014 amounting to EUR k 133 as 
well as accrued interest including amortisation of the discount of EUR k 185. 
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21. Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities based 
on contractual undiscounted payments: 

 31 Dec 2014 

 Total Within 1 
years 

1 years 
to 5 year 

Over 5 
years 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     

Long-term borrowings 2,448 126 2,322 0 
Trade and other payables 2,726 2,726 0 0 
Short-term borrowings 3,523 3,523 0 0 
 8,697 6,375 2,322 0 

 

 31 Dec 2013 

 Total Within 1 
year 

1 year to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     

Long-term borrowings 2,448 126 2,322 0 
Trade and other payables 492 492 0 0 
 2,940 618 2,322 0 

22. Provisions 

  
1 Jan 
2014 Increase Utilisation Reversal 

31 Dec 
2014 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
       
VAT provision 525 0 0 -525 0 
Contingent consideration 18 0 -18 0 0 
  543 0 -18 -525 0 

 

Please   refer   to   note   ‘32.  Provisions’   in   the   consolidated   financial   statements   for   further  
details. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

23. Capital management 
 
Capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the Company. The Company has the 
following net debts: 

Net debt analysis 
   

31 Dec 2014  
EUR k 

31 Dec 2013  
EUR k 

      
Long-term borrowings    2,310 2,184 
Short-term borrowings   3,421 0 
Cash and cash equivalents  -52 -54 
Net debt    5,679 2,130 

 

Please refer to note '37. Capital management' of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

24. Financial assets and liabilities 
 

24.1 Fair value hierarchy 

Please refer to note '38. Financial assets and liabilities' of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

24.2 Presentation by categories 

The balance sheet items comprising financial assets and liabilities can be attributed to the 
measurement categories according to IAS 39 as follows: 

  31 Dec 2014 
  Carrying amount Receivables Fair value 
  EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  52 52 52 
  52 52 52 
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  31 Dec 2013 
  Carrying amount Receivables Fair value 
  EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  54 54 54 
  54 54 54 
   

 

  31 Dec 2014 

  
Carrying 
amount Loans 

Financial 
liability at fair 
value through 
profit or loss 

Fair 
value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
      

Liabilities     
Long-term borrowing 2,310 2,310 0 2,269 
Trade and other payables 2,726 2,726 0 2,726 
Short-term borrowing 3,421 3,421 0 3,421 
  8,457 8,457 0 8,416 

  

 

31 Dec 2013 

  
Carrying 
amount Loans 

Financial 
liability at fair 
value through 
profit or loss 

Fair 
value 

  EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
      

Liabilities     
Long-term borrowing 2,184 2,184 0 2,063 
Trade and other payables 492 492 0 492 
Contingent consideration 18 0 18 0 
  2,694 2,676 18 2,555 

 

25. Financial risk management 
 

Please refer to note '39. Financial risk management' of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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26. Relationships with related parties 
 

Outstanding balances as at 31 December 2014 and 2013 with subsidiaries, key 
management personnel and shareholders are as follows:  

 2014 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     

Subsidiaries     
RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH 1,067 10 45 0 
thereof allowance -1,067 0 0 0 
RNTS Media Co., Ltd.  7,008 0 3 0 
thereof allowance -7,005 0 0 0 
Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 1,542 0 29 0 
Fyber GmbH 17,044 51 133 51 
     
Key management personnel 0 0 0 3,524 
     
Shareholders     
- Sapinda Asia Ltd. 0 2,424 0 170 
- SYSK Ltd. 0 1,777 0 109 
- Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 0 1,015 0 15 
- Lars Windhorst 0 533 0 18 
 18,589 5,810 210 3,887 

 

 2013 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     
Key management personnel 7 0 0 383 
     
Shareholder     
- SYSK Ltd. 0 1,669 0 108 
- Lars Windhorst 0 1,055 0 27 

 7 2,724 0 518 
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Amounts owed by subdidiaries refer entirely to loans provided by the Company. Sales of 
the Company to subsidiaries include interest on provided loans and recharges for group 
related management costs. Current payables of the Company to subsidiaries are shown in 
amounts owed to parties. 

The purchases from key management personnel consists entirely of compensation of key 
management personnel including the remuneration for business consultancy services from 
the Supervisory Board members Ryan Kavanaugh (service provided through Knight Global 
Services) and Dirk Van Daele amounting to EUR k 3,021. Please refer to note '8. Other 
operating expenses' of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further details.  

The shareholders Sapinda Asia Ltd., SYSK Ltd., Lars Windhorst and Sapinda Invest S.à r.l 
have provided shareholder loans to the Company and its subsidiaries with the outstanding 
balance shown as payables and the purchases being the interest accrued in the respective 
year.  

Outstanding balances with Anoa Capital S.A. are as follows. The disclosure is made as Mr. 
Dirk Van Daele is CEO and controlling shareholder of Anoa Capital S.A. as well as 
Chairman of the supervisory board of RNTS Media N.V.  

   Anoa Capital S.A. 

 
Amounts owed by 

parties 
Amounts owed 

to parties 
Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
     

2014 0 832 0 3,500 
2013 0 35 0 329 

 

Please refer to note '40. Relationships with related parties' of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for further details.
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Compensation for key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 
are as follows: 

 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Share-based payments 3,021 0 
Short-term employee benefits 503 341 
Defined contribution plan 0 0 
Termination benefits 0 42 
 3,524 383 

 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense in the Company 
during the reporting period related to key management personnel. Key management personnel, 
including all executive directors, that have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling of the activities of the entities, directly or indirectly. 

The compensation for key management personnel includes compensation for members of the 
management board and supervisory board of the Company as follows: 

  
31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
Management Board Member    
Andreas Bodczek1), 2), 5) short-term employee benefits 19 0 
Roger van Diepen5) short-term employee benefits 238 163 
Hyunghoon Han1), 5) short-term employee benefits 93 0 
Janis Zech1), 2), 5) short-term employee benefits 35 0 
Jai Paik3) short-term employee benefits 83 7 
Hee jun Park4) short-term employee benefits 0 55 
 termination benefits 0 5 
  468 230 
1) Compensation was paid by subsidiaries of the Company 
2) Member of the Management Board since 21 October 2014 
3) Member of the Management Board until 30 June 2014 
4) Member of the Management Board until 8 November 2013 
5) Statutory director of the Company   
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31 Dec 

2014 
31 Dec 

2013 
  EUR k EUR k 
Supervisory Board Member     

Ryan Kavanaugh share-based payments 1,826 0 

Dirk Van Daele share-based payments 1,195 0 

  3,021 0 
    

Total compensation for Management Board Member and 
Supervisory Board Member 3,489 230 

 

 2014 

 
Finance 
income 

Finance 
expenses 

 EUR k EUR k 
Subsidiaries   

RNTS Media Co., Ltd. 
 

371 0 

RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH 
 

297 0 

Fyber GmbH. 
 

297 0 

Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 13 0 
   

Other related parties 0 0 
 978 0 

 

 2013 

 
Finance 
income 

Finance 
expenses 

 EUR k EUR k 
Subsidiaries   

RNTS Media Co., Ltd. 
 

265 0 

RNTS Media GmbH Deutschland 174 0 
   

Other related parties 0 9 
 439 9 

 

Concerning  the  allowance  of  receivables  in  2014  please  refer  to  ‘7.  Other  operating  expenses’  
for further details. 
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27. Other financial commitments 

There are no other financial commitments. 

28. Auditors fee 

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP charged the following costs for the procedures performed for the 
financial year 2014 which have been incurred in the financial year: 

 1 Jan to 1 Jan to 
 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013 
 EUR k EUR k 
   
Audit of the financial statements 156 71 
Other audit engagements 0 0 
 156 71 

 

29. Other information 

Please refer to ‘42. Events after the balance sheet date' of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further information. 

According to the article 29 of the articles of association as of 20 November 2012 the management 
board, with the approval of the supervisory board, may decide that part of the profit realised during 
a financial year be set aside to increase and / or form reserves. The remaining profit will be put 
at the disposal of the general meeting. 

Distributions may be made only insofar as the Company’s  equity  exceed  the  amount  of  the  paid  
in and called up part of the issued capital, increased by the reserves which must be kept by virtue 
of the law or theses articles of association (see article 29.7). 

The management propose, regarding to the distribution of the result for the year 2014, to add the 
losses to the accumulated deficit. 

30. Remuneration of the management board and the supervisory board 

Ms. Jai Paik left the Company during the financial year. Mr. Andreas Bodczek, Mr. Janis Zech 
and Mr. Se Yol Kim entered the Company as board members on 21 October 2014. Mr. Roger 
van Diepen completes the new management board. Please refer to note '26. Relationships with 
related parties' of the notes to the Company financial statements for information regarding the 
remuneration of the management board. 
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Mr. Rob Hersov, the chairman of the supervisory board, and Mr. Georg Schwegler, a member of 
the supervisory board, left the Company during the financial year. Mr. Dirk Van Daele became 
the new chairman of the supervisory board. The new supervisory board is completed by Mr. Guy 
Dubois and Mr. Ryan Kavanaugh as new members.  

Please refer to note '26. Relationships with related parties' of the notes to the Company financial 
statements for information regarding the remuneration of the supervisory board. 
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Authorisation of Consolidated and Company Annual Accounts 

Amsterdam, 17 June 2015 

 

Management Board Members 

Andreas Bodczek 
Roger van Diepen 
Janis Zech 
Hyunghoon Han 
 

Supervisory Board Members 
 
Dirk Van Daele (Chairman) 
Guy Dubois 
Ryan Kavanaugh 
 

 
  



  

 

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP is a limited liability partnership incorporated under the laws of England and Wales and registered with Companies House under number 
OC335594. The term partner in relation to Ernst & Young Accountants LLP is used to refer to (the representative of) a member of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP. Ernst & 
Young Accountants LLP has its registered office at 1 Lambeth Palace Road, London SE1 7EU, United Kingdom, its principal place of business at Boompjes 258, 3011 XZ 
Rotterdam, the Netherlands and is registered with the Chamber of Commerce Rotterdam number 24432944. Our services are subject to general terms and conditions, 
which contain a limitation of liability clause. 

!"#$%&'&()*#+&,--)*#%.#%$&//0&
12."%32.%3".4433&56&
789:&;<&12)443=&>3%?3"4.#@$&
0ABA&C)D&69E&
7888&,0&12)443=&>3%?3"4.#@$&

& F34G&H9:&77&E8I&:8&88&
J.DG&H9:&77&E8I&KE&85&
3LA-)M&

!"#$%$"#$"&'()#*&+,’-',$%+,&'
F)G& $?."3?)4@3"$&)N&O>FP&Q3@R.&>ASA&

.$%+,&'+"'&/$'0*"("1*(2'-&(&$3$"&-'
T3&?.U3&.*@R%3@&%?3&.--)MV.#LR#+&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&W8:E&)N&O>FP&Q3@R.&>ASA=&,M$%3"@.M=&&
2?R-?&-)MV"R$3&%?3&-)#$)4R@.%3@&.#@&-)MV.#L&$%.%3M3#%&)N&NR#.#-R.4&V)$R%R)#&.$&.%&;3-3MX3"&9:=&W8:E=&%?3&-)#$)4R@.%3@&.#@&
-)MV.#L&R#-)M3&$%.%3M3#%$=&$%.%3M3#%$&)N&)%?3"&-)MV"3?3#$RU3&R#-)M3=&-?.#+3$&R#&3Y*R%L&.#@&-.$?&N4)2$&N)"&%?3&L3."&%?3#&
3#@3@&.#@&#)%3$=&-)MV"R$R#+&.&$*MM."L&)N&%?3&$R+#RNR-.#%&.--)*#%R#+&V)4R-R3$&.#@&)%?3"&3DV4.#.%)"L&R#N)"M.%R)#A&

!"#"$%&%#'()*+%),-#)./.0.'1*
Q.#.+3M3#%&R$&"3$V)#$RX43&N)"&%?3&V"3V.".%R)#&.#@&N.R"&V"3$3#%.%R)#&)N&%?3$3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&R#&.--)"@.#-3&2R%?&
Z#%3"#.%R)#.4&JR#.#-R.4&O3V)"%R#+&P%.#@."@$&.$&.@)V%3@&XL&%?3&!*")V3.#&[#R)#&.#@&&
2R%?&0."%&K&)N&C))\&W&)N&%?3&;*%-?&]RUR4&])@3=&.#@&N)"&%?3&V"3V.".%R)#&)N&%?3&M.#.+3M3#%&X)."@&"3V)"%&R#&.--)"@.#-3&2R%?&0."%&K&
)N&C))\&W&)N&%?3&;*%-?&]RUR4&])@3A&J*"%?3"M)"3&M.#.+3M3#%&R$&"3$V)#$RX43&N)"&$*-?&R#%3"#.4&-)#%")4&.$&R%&@3%3"MR#3$&R$&#3-3$$."L&
%)&3#.X43&%?3&V"3V.".%R)#&)N&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&%?.%&."3&N"33&N")M&M.%3"R.4&MR$$%.%3M3#%=&2?3%?3"&@*3&%)&N".*@&)"&3"")"A&

234.'-+()*+%),-#)./.0.'1*
B*"&"3$V)#$RXR4R%L&R$&%)&3DV"3$$&.#&)VR#R)#&)#&%?3$3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&X.$3@&)#&)*"&.*@R%A&&
T3&-)#@*-%3@&)*"&.*@R%&R#&.--)"@.#-3&2R%?&;*%-?&4.2=&R#-4*@R#+&%?3&;*%-?&P%.#@."@$&)#&,*@R%R#+A&&
F?R$&"3Y*R"3$&%?.%&23&-)MV4L&2R%?&3%?R-.4&"3Y*R"3M3#%$&.#@&V4.#&.#@&V3"N)"M&%?3&.*@R%&%)&)X%.R#&"3.$)#.X43&.$$*".#-3&.X)*%&
2?3%?3"&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&."3&N"33&N")M&M.%3"R.4&MR$$%.%3M3#%A&
&
,#&.*@R%&R#U)4U3$&V3"N)"MR#+&V")-3@*"3$&%)&)X%.R#&.*@R%&3UR@3#-3&.X)*%&%?3&.M)*#%$&.#@&@R$-4)$*"3$&R#&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$A&
F?3&V")-3@*"3$&$343-%3@&@3V3#@&)#&%?3&.*@R%)"^$&_*@+M3#%=&R#-4*@R#+&%?3&.$$3$$M3#%&)N&%?3&"R$\$&)N&M.%3"R.4&MR$$%.%3M3#%&)N&%?3&
NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$=&2?3%?3"&@*3&%)&N".*@&)"&3"")"A&
Z#&M.\R#+&%?)$3&"R$\&.$$3$$M3#%$=&%?3&.*@R%)"&-)#$R@3"$&R#%3"#.4&-)#%")4&"343U.#%&%)&%?3&3#%R%L�·$&V"3V.".%R)#&.#@&N.R"&V"3$3#%.%R)#&
)N&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&R#&)"@3"&%)&@3$R+#&.*@R%&V")-3@*"3$&%?.%&."3&.VV")V"R.%3&R#&%?3&-R"-*M$%.#-3$=&X*%&#)%&N)"&%?3&V*"V)$3&
)N&3DV"3$$R#+&.#&)VR#R)#&)#&%?3&3NN3-%RU3#3$$&)N&%?3&3#%R%L^$&R#%3"#.4&-)#%")4A&,#&.*@R%&.4$)&R#-4*@3$&3U.4*.%R#+&%?3&
.VV")V"R.%3#3$$&)N&.--)*#%R#+&V)4R-R3$&*$3@&.#@&%?3&"3.$)#.X43#3$$&)N&.--)*#%R#+&3$%RM.%3$&M.@3&XL&M.#.+3M3#%=&.$&2344&.$&
3U.4*.%R#+&%?3&)U3".44&V"3$3#%.%R)#&)N&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$A&
&
T3&X34R3U3&%?.%&%?3&.*@R%&3UR@3#-3&23&?.U3&)X%.R#3@&R$&$*NNR-R3#%&.#@&.VV")V"R.%3&%)&V")UR@3&.&X.$R$&N)"&)*"&.*@R%&)VR#R)#A&

5,.#.-# *6.'7*+%),%8'*'-*'7%*9.#"#8."0*)'"'%&%#')*
Z#&)*"&)VR#R)#=&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&$%.%3M3#%$&+RU3&.&%"*3&.#@&N.R"&UR32&)N&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&V)$R%R)#&)N&&
O>FP&Q3@R.&>ASA&.$&.%&;3-3MX3"&9:=&W8:E&.#@&)N&R%$&"3$*4%&.#@&R%$&-.$?&N4)2$&N)"&%?3&L3."&%?3#&3#@3@&R#&.--)"@.#-3&2R%?&
Z#%3"#.%R)#.4&JR#.#-R.4&O3V)"%R#+&P%.#@."@$&.$&.@)V%3@&XL&%?3&!*")V3.#&[#R)#&.#@&2R%?&0."%&K&)N&C))\&W&)N&%?3&;*%-?&]RUR4&])@3A&
 &



  
 

 

&

.$%+,&'+"'+&/$,'2$4(2'("#',$4)2(&+,5',$6)*,$3$"&- '
0*"$*.#%&%)&%?3&43+.4&"3Y*R"3M3#%&*#@3"&P3-%R)#&WG9K9&$*X&5&.%&3&.#@&N&)N&%?3&;*%-?&]RUR4&])@3=&23&?.U3&#)&@3NR-R3#-R3$&%)&"3V)"%&
.$&.&"3$*4%&)N&)*"&3D.MR#.%R)#&2?3%?3"&%?3&M.#.+3M3#%&X)."@&"3V)"%=&%)&%?3&3D%3#%&23&-.#&.$$3$$=&?.$&X33#&V"3V."3@&R#&
.--)"@.#-3&2R%?&0."%&K&)N&C))\&W&)N&%?R$&])@3=&.#@&2?3%?3"&%?3&R#N)"M.%R)#&.$&"3Y*R"3@&*#@3"&P3-%R)#&WG9KW&$*X&:&.%&X`?&?.$&
X33#&.##3D3@A&J*"%?3"&23&"3V)"%&%?.%&%?3&M.#.+3M3#%&X)."@&"3V)"%=&%)&%?3&3D%3#%&23&-.#&.$$3$$=&R$&-)#$R$%3#%&2R%?&%?3&NR#.#-R.4&
$%.%3M3#%$&.$&"3Y*R"3@&XL&P3-%R)#&WG9K:&$*X&E&)N&%?3&;*%-?&]RUR4&])@3A&
&
&
12)443=&a*#3&:I =&W8:5&
&
&
!"#$%&'&()*#+&,--)*#%.#%$&//0&
&
&
&
$R+#3@&XL&;A/A&b"))%&12..N%R#\&
&
 


